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Glossary
Acronyms

AIDS  Acquired Immune Defi ciency Syndrome  
CIOM  Chief Inspector of Mines
COP  Code of Practice 
DME  Department of Minerals and Energy 
EMTAC  Engineering And Machinery Technical Advisory Committee 
HR  Human Resources
HIV  Human Immunodefi ciency Virus 
HTAC   Human Factors Advisory Committee
ILO  International Labour Organisation 
MHSA  Mine Health and Safety Act (No. 29 of 1996)
MHSC  Mine Health and Safety Council (Council) 
MHSI  Mine Health and Safety Inspectorate (Inspectorate)  
MOHAC  Mining Occupational Health Advisory Committee
MRAC  Mining Regulations Advisory Committee
MQA  Mining Qualifi cations Authority
NIHL  Noise Induced Hearing Loss
NIOH  National Institute for Occupational Health 
OEL  Occupational Exposure Limit
OHS  Occupational Health and Safety
OHTAC  Occupational Health Technical Advisory Committee
PATHAUT  Pathology Autopsy Database 
PFMA   Public Finance Management Act (No. 1 of 1999)
RETAC  Rock Engineering Technical Advisory Committee
SABS  South African Bureau of Standards
SAMRASS  South African Mines Reportable Accidents Statistical System   
SIMRAC  Safety in Mines Research Advisory Committee
TB  Tuberculosis
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Terms and Defi nitions
Chief  Inspector means the offi cer appointed in terms of section 48(1) of the Mine Health and 
Safety Act, 1996 and includes any offi cer acting in that capacity. 

Council means the Mine Health and Safety Council established in terms of section 41(1) of the 
Mine Health and Safety Act, 1996.

Hazard means a source of, or exposure to danger.

Health refers to occupational health at mines.

Health hazard means any physical, chemical or biological hazard to health including 
anything declared to be a health hazard by the Minister.

Mines means any excavation and activity where mineral deposits are mined; all buildings, 
structures, machinery, dumps, roads or objects that are used during the winning, exploitation 
and processing of a mineral.

Minister means the South African Minister of Minerals and Energy.

Occupational health includes occupational hygiene and occupational medicine.

Occupational hygiene means the anticipation, recognition, evaluation and control of 
conditions at a mine that may cause illness or adverse health effects to persons.

Occupational medicine means the prevention, diagnosis and treatment of illness, injury 
and adverse health effects associated with a particular type of work.

Risk means the likelihood that occupational injury or harm to persons will occur.

Strategic goals represent organisational outcomes that are critical to the achievement of the 
MHSC’s mission during the next fi ve to ten years.

Strategic objectives are the output necessary to achieve strategic goals.
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Council Vision
A regulatory framework and climate that produces safe and healthy working 
conditions for mineworkers and communities affected by mining.

Council Mission

To facilitate a sustained improvement in occupational health and safety at 
mines through focused research and guidance on best practice, effective 
policy advice and legislation, and the development of a pervasive culture 
of health and safety.
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Chairperson’s Overview

Introduction

The MHSC was established in terms of the MHSA to advise the Minister of Minerals and Energy on 
health and safety at mines and on research programmes and review of Regulations pertaining 
to mine health and safety.  

The MHSC‘s tasks also include the promotion of health and safety at mines, arranging a biennial 
summit to review health and safety at mines and working closely with other statutory bodies 
involved in mine health and safety. 

It is my pleasure to present to you the Annual Report of the Mine Health and Safety Council for 
the period 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007.

Strategic Goals 

The MHSC has established the following objectives to ensure that its strategic activities are 
aligned with its mandate in terms of the MHSA, as well as to support the mining industry’s 
target to eliminate occupational fatalities, injuries and diseases:  

Objective 1:  Support the achievement of the milestones as set at the 2003 Summit,  
  to promote the prevention of death, injury and disease within the   
  mining industry. 

Objective 2: Promote and drive the legislative review.
Objective 3: Advise the Minister on mining health and safety issues.
Objective 4: Promote and facilitate the development of a preventative culture to  

  drive the health and safety agenda.
Objective 5: Promote and facilitate the development of capacity to drive the health  

  and safety agenda.
Objective 6: Ensure the effective and effi cient operations of the MHSC.

Occupational Health and Safety Milestones

At the MHSC Summit held in 2005, the mining sector reaffi rmed the specifi c occupational 
health and safety milestones to achieve sustained reductions in and an eventual zero target 
on mining related fatalities and injuries, and to eliminate silicosis and noise-induced hearing 
loss at source. 

Silicosis and silico-tuberculosis still represent the major contributors to occupational mortality 
in mines, which has prompted industry stakeholders to set the specifi c occupational milestones 
on the prevention and elimination of the disease. 

Despite implementation plans under the Thibela TB programme, tuberculosis cases are on the 
increase in the gold mining industry, which is possibly attributable to the multiplication effect 
that silicosis together with HIV and AIDS has on the incidence of TB. A few cases of multi-drug 
resistant tuberculosis as well as extremely drug resistant tuberculoses cases were also reported 
in the mining industry. 

Preliminary indications are that most mines are below the occupational exposure limit for 
respirable crystalline silica of 0.1 mg/m3. 

The establishment of a baseline hearing sampling method for all miners who enter the 
mining profession will provide better indicators to personal hearing deterioration levels. The 
containment of noise levels at source is also being researched.         

It is with grave concern that I have to report that, although the mining industry has achieved 
the lowest numbers of fatalities of all time, namely 199, (2006: 202), the overall rate of 0,2 
fatalities per million hours worked, does not show a marked reduction to enable the mining 
industry to achieve constant and continuous improvements equivalent to current international 
benchmarks, by 2013. 

Most fatalities are caused by rock-related accidents which has prompted the Honourable 
Minister of Minerals and Energy to call for a mini indaba to address the rockburst aspects of 
rock-related incidents. This is planned for 7 September 2007.  
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Chairperson’s Overview (Continued)

Legislative Review

During the reporting period the MHSC has advised the Minister of amendments on the following Regulations which were completed 
during the reporting period: 

• Under Water Mining;
• Winding Engine Drivers and Onsetters;
• Water Storage and Pumping;
• Orepasses and Drawpoints;
• Exit Certifi cate and Record of Hazardous Work;
• Emergency Preparedness and Response;
• Process Plants; 
• Regulation 28.12.A (Recognition of MQA Qualifi cation for acceptance to Mine Overseer and Mine Managers Certifi cates of 

Competency); and
• Flammable Gas Regulations.

Research Programmes

The MHSC Research Programme for the 2006/7 period was approved at a cost of R43,1 million, refl ecting an increase of approximately 6 
per cent, from R40,6 million in 2005/6. This corresponds to a per-capita research expenditure of R92 per mine employee.

New and continuation research projects on airborne pollutants and noise induced hearing loss  represented the main focus areas within 
occupational health research, and occupational safety research was focused on the prevention of rockfalls and rockbursts at a cost of 
R50 million over a 5 year period. 

An important research outcome is the report on guidelines, best practices and standards relating to the minimisation of the rockburst 
risk. 

The initial steps to improve research processes have been implemented and the Council will be reviewing improved strategies on 
technology transfer to ensure better implementation by mines.            

Advising the Minister on Health and Safety Issues

The MHSC established a discussion group to consider government plans relating to the national integration of occupational health 
and safety bodies. Consideration is also given to empowering health and safety committees at mines to reinforce participatory-based 
approaches to promote a culture of health and safety at mines. 

Promoting a Culture of Health and Safety at Mines

During 2006/7, the MHSC awarded the Safety Achievement Flag in the four mining categories namely to Greenside Colliery, Assmang 
Manganese, Fairview Gold Mine and Blyvooruitzicht Gold Mine. Millionaire Awards were conferred to forty mines and Thousand Fatality 
Free Shifts Awards were conferred to thirty one mines. Congratulations to all!    
   
During the year, the MHSC interacted with all its stakeholders and target audiences, including mine management, professionals, 
mineworkers, equipment manufacturers and the print media. In the process more than 8,000 informative items such as newsletters, 
books, reports, information packs and CDs were distributed. Face to face interaction occurred at four events, 20 discussions and 
workshops about research projects, and at approximately thirty MHSC meetings. 

Governance

The MHSC has operated within accepted governance framework policies and Acts of Parliament and has contributed towards the 
development of national policies in terms of occupational health and safety, research capacity building and skills development, the 
promotion of access to information, and accepted standards of accounting practices.       

Research Levies, in terms of the MHSA, were imposed on approximately 610 mines during 2006/7. The MHSC Offi ce is funded by the DME, 
and costs associated with the research administration are funded from Research Levies imposed on the mining industry in terms of the 
MHSA.  Levies to the amount of R43,1 million (2006: R40,6 million) were collected. 

During the period under review, the Council has posted a surplus of R4,47 million (2006: R4,412 million), which is committed to research 
contracts entered into but which have not yet commenced.

Let’s work together towards zero harm!

Thabo GAZI
MHSC Chairperson 
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Profi le
The Mine Health and Safety Council was established in 1996 under the Mine Health and Safety 
Act. The Council is a tripartite institution consisting of 15 non-executive members who represent 
the State, Employers and Employees under Chairmanship of the Chief Inspector of Mines.  

In addition to advising the Minister of Minerals and Energy on OHS legislation and research 
outcomes focused on improving and promoting occupational health and safety in South African 
mines, the Council is also tasked to: 
• Oversee the activities of its Permanent Committees; 
• Promote a culture of health and safety in the mining industry; 
• Arrange a tripartite summit once every two years to review the state of occupational health 

and safety at mines; and 
• Liaise with the Mining Qualifi cations Authority and any other statutory bodies. 

The three statutory Permanent Committees of the Council, SIMRAC, MRAC and MOHAC, were 
established in terms of Section 44(3) (a-e) and Section 44(4) (a-d) of the Mine Health and Safety Act. 

The Committees are tasked with the following: 
• MRAC is responsible for advising the Council on proposed regulatory changes; guidelines 

for codes of practice; and on national standards approved by the South African Bureau of 
Standards;

• MOHAC is responsible for advising the Council on health policies, standards, systems and 
procedures related to occupational health risks; health regulations, health research and 
health data; and 

• SIMRAC reviews OHS risks and establishes the need for OHS research projects; establishes 
criteria for determining the funding of health and safety research; evaluates research 
proposals; and oversees the research programme and the technology transfer of research 
outcomes. 

The MHSC is listed as a Public Entity (Schedule 3A) according to the PFMA, and in terms of 
government funding received for administrative purposes, as legislated by the MHSA.  

Council operations are also governed by, amongst others, national legislation, fi nancial 
guidelines and principles, procedural regulations, MHSC policies, and international standards 
of conduct in terms of ethical procedures relating to medical research.

Structure of the MHSC
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Mine Health and Safety Council Permanent Committees Membership and Attendance 
Status  

Mine Health and Safety Council

Member name Total 
meetings

Total 
Present

Total 
Absent

% Presence 
[Rounded] Comments

State members

Mr MM Zondi 6 5 1 83 Chairperson and Group Convenor

Mr TE Gazi 6 5 1 83

Mr AR Nundlall 2 2 0 100 Member from 01/07 

Ms S Makhoba 2 1 1 50 Member from 01/07

Dr D Mokoboto 2 2 0 100 Member from 01/07

Mr TM Doyle 1 1 0 100 Member until 12/06

Mr D Maphutha 1 1 0 100 Member until 12/06

Mr J Erasmus 3 3 0 100 Member until 12/06

Labour members

Ms M Llale 6 3 3 50 Group Convenor

Mr P Hlanizulu 3 3 0 100 Member from 12/06

Mr E Gcilitshana 6 3 3 50

Mr TJP Kruger 6 1 5 17

Mr J Morallana 3 0 3 0 Member until 10/06

Mr SF Stehring 6 3 3 50

Employer members

Mr S van der Woude 6 5 1 83 Group Convenor

Mr A van der Bergh 6 5 1 83

Mr N Pienaar 6 4 2 67

Dr MF Randera 6 4 2 67

Mr R Lazare 6 4 2 67

Safety in Mines Research Advisory Committee

Member name Total 
meetings

Total 
Present

Total 
Absent

% Presence 
[Rounded] Comments

State members

Mr T E Gazi 5 4 1 80 Chairperson until 12/06 

Dr WK Rymon-Lipinski 7 7 0 100

Mr AR Nundlall 7 5 2 71
Chairperson and Group Convenor 
from 01/07 

Ms P Mnisi 4 3 1 75 Member since 03/07

Mr W Masztelerz 2 2 0 100 Member since 01/07

Labour members

Ms P Mboniswa 2 1 1 50 Member since 01/07

Mr A Rikhotso 7 7 0 100

Mr E Gcilitshana 7 5 2 71 Group Convenor

Mr C Smith 7 5 2 71

Mr J Rossouw 2 1 1 50 Member since 01/07

Employer members

Dr MF Randera 7 6 1 86 Group Convenor

Mr D Labuschagne 2 2 0 100 Member since 02/07

Mr I Ally 3 3 0 100

Dr DW Stanton 5 5 0 100 Member until 12/06 

Mr H Froneman 2 1 1 50 Member since 02/07  

Mr M O’Hare 7 1 6 14
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Mining Occupational Health Advisory Committee

Member name Total 
meetings

Total 
Present

Total 
Absent

% Presence 
[Rounded] Comments

State members

Dr D Mokoboto 1 1 0 100
Chairperson and Group Convenor 
since 01/07

Mr JJ Beukes 4 4 0 100

Mr B Letanta 4 3 1 75

Dr NT Maku 1 1 0 100 Member since 01/07

Ms P Mnisi 1 1 0 100 Member since 01/07

Labour members

Ms P Mboniswa 4 4 0 100 Group Convenor

Mr D Selebogo 4 3 1 75

Mr J Hanekom 4 3 1 75

Mr T Popela 4 2 2 50

Mr S Motloung 4 2 2 50

Mr M Mira 4 2 2 50  

Employer members

Dr DW Stanton 3 3 0 100
Group Convenor and Member until 
12/06   

Dr F Randera 4 4 0 100 Group Convenor since 01/07 

Dr DF Barnes 4 2 2 50

Mr D Wrigley 4 2 2 50

Mining Regulation Advisory Committee

Member name Total 
meetings

Total 
Present

Total 
Absent

% Presence 
[Rounded] Comments

State members

Mr TM Doyle 6 5 1 83 Chairperson and Group Convenor

Mr JE Kotze 6 6 6 100

Mr A Coutinho 6 4 2 67

Mr F Wilmans 5 3 2 60

Ms S Makhoba 6 2 4 33

Labour members

Mr L Mekuto 5 3 2 60 Group Convenor

Mr B Lethala 5 0 0 0

Mr F Stehring 6 4 2 67

Mr L Khiba 6 1 5 17

Mr AG Oganne 6 4 2 67

Employer members

Mr AV Achterbergh 6 5 1 83 Group Convenor 

Ms C Dixon 6 4 2 67

Mr D Baker 6 5 1 83

Mr W Marais 6 3 3 50

Mr M Gray 6 2 4 33
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Profi le (Continued)

The MHSC Offi ce

The MHSC Offi ce, under guidance of a General Manager, manages and executes the strategic and operational deliverables of the Council, 
which consists of the following core sections with the tasks indicated for each core area:
• Financial Management: Risk management, levy collection, accounting and auditing;  
• Research Programme: Project and contractual supervision and technology transfer;
• Liaison and Policy: Stakeholder liaison and policy development; 
• Committee Administration: Secretarial services and programme administration;
• Corporate Communications: Public relations, information sharing, reporting and events;   
• IT Administration: Electronic communications and website maintenance;
• Offi ce Administration: Leasing, asset management, insurance; and 
• Personnel Services: Staff administration and payroll.    

The Council Offi ce adheres to statutory employment equity principles. Permanent staff comprises 50 per cent “Female” and 68.75 per 
cent “Black”.  The Offi ce Staff Organogram below shows the MHSC offi ce staff composition and names. 

Mine Health Safety Council Offi ce staff, 
seated from left to right: Mrs Cheryl Jones, 
Mrs Estelle Solomons, Dr Audrey Banyini, 
Mr Lazarus Magana, Mr Johannes Lithebe, 
Ms Elsie Zinsser, standing from left to right: 
Mr Dragan Amidzic, Mr Remember Moraba, 
Mr Duncan Adams, Mrs Noeleen Woods, 
Mr Adiel Badrodien, Mr Celvan Philips, Mrs 
Cecile Gomes (resigned), Mr Lucky Phoswa 
(temporary employee)), Mrs Naomi Nkoana, 
Mrs Chantal Williams (temporary worker). 

  Offi ce Staff Organogram
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Key Activity Indicators Target Date Achieved Comments

Objective 1: Support the achievement of  milestones set at the 2003 summit – to promote the prevention of  
death, injury and disease in the mining industry  

1.1 Defi ne and review the 
MHSC’s plan to facilitate 
the achievement of the 
industry milestones (on 
mining safety, NIHL and 
Silicosis).

Implement SIMRAC programme 
on the Elimination of Silicosis.

03/08 Yes Research programme is in progress 
and on track.  

Implement SIMRAC programme 
on the Elimination of NIHL.

03/08 Yes The Research programme is in 
progress and on track.  

Implement the SIMRAC 
programme on Rock Bursts.

03/10 Yes The Research programme is in 
progress and on track.  

Implement, monitor and 
evaluate SIMRAC research 
programme, to contribute to 
the achievements of industry 
milestones.

03/07 Yes The Research Programme for 2006/7 
was approved and is in progress. 

1.2 Communicate and ensure 
understanding of the 
milestones within the 
sector.

Implement a strategy. 09/07 No 

Review understanding of the 
milestones within the industry 
through a survey.

04/08 No 

1.3 Develop mechanisms 
for monitoring (e.g. 
ensure databases are 
appropriate), and monitor 
and evaluate progress 
against the plan.

Develop new monitoring 
systems.

03/07 No A project to review database 
reliability has been completed and is 
under MHSC review. 

Outcomes of the project will give 
direction to further mechanisms to 
be developed.

Monitor, and evaluate 
achievement against milestones.

Yearly Yes Safety data are presented to the 
MHSC on a quarterly basis.

1.4 Review use of past 
research projects to gain 
maximum benefi t.

Manage execution of the 
research project according to 
the agreed plan.

4/06 Yes The research project has been 
concluded and is now under 
international peer review. 

Objective 2: Promote and drive the legislative review

2.1 Externally: Develop 
a strategic legislative 
agenda.

Develop a legislative agenda 
that is comprehensive (i.e. also 
includes small-scale mines).

03/07 No The initial research project on 
outcomes-based legislation was 
cancelled. Tenders will be invited 
after a rescoping process.   

Develop a research agenda that 
supports the MHSC’s strategic 
legislative agenda.

09/06 N/A This issue was removed from the 
Strategic Plan.  

However, the Minister has raised 
this as an important issue and the 
MHSC will review the related activity 
during 2007.  

2.2  Complete the current 
legislative programme.

Facilitate the understanding 
and implementation of new 
regulations.

03/07 No Four Regulations were promulgated 
during the period, namely:
• Regulations relating to machinery 

and equipment, 8 September 
2006.

• Amendment to the regulations in 
respect of occupational hygiene, 
5 October 2006.

• Regulations relating to explosives, 
15 December 2006.

• Amendments to the Regulations 
– Chapter 22.14, 19 January 2007.

MHSC Strategic Objectives and Performance
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Key Activity Indicators Target Date Achieved Comments

Objective 3: Advise the minister on mining health and safety issues

3.1  Identify priority issues 
(e.g. Silicosis, HIV 
and AIDS, national 
integration of health and 
safety structures) and 
develop mechanisms for 
identifying issues on an 
ongoing basis .

Develop and provide timeous 
advice on OHS, regulation of 
engineering work, OHS targets 
and milestones, and national 
OHS infrastructure.

03/07 Yes The regulation of engineering work 
debate was workshopped and the 
drafted document includes all 
tripartite stakeholder input. 

The DME to consider further 
approaches. 

The HIV/AIDS Guideline for Small 
Mines was debated in MHSC 
committee structures, for further 
input. 

Objective 4: Promote and facilitate the development of  a preventative culture to drive the health and safety 
agenda

4.1  Develop and implement 
a promotion strategy for 
improved health and 
safety awareness and 
education.

Implement promotions strategy. 03/07 Yes The Communications Plan for the 
2006/7 period was implemented 
resulting in end-user interaction 
with all target audiences.

MHSC approved a Communication 
Policy in January 2007. 

Arrange a biennial summit. 10/07 Due in the 2007/8 period.

4.2  Build a network of 
appropriate external 
organisations to drive 
health and safety.

Identify and document 
new networks on local and 
international databases and 
develop priority networks.

03/08 Due in the 2007/8 period.

Objective 5:  Promote and facilitate the development of  capacity to drive the health and safety agenda

5.1  Develop an agenda for 
capacity building amongst 
the following groups: 
Internally within MHSC 
Externally, within the DME, 
Inspectorate, employers, 
employees, and health 
and safety practitioners.

Review current capacity of 
health and safety within the 
industry.  (To be included in 
past research review project, 
the review to extend to health 
professionals, the inspectorate 
and research capacity 
transformation aspects to be 
considered and presented in a 
consolidated form).

03/07 No The MHSC re-focused this sub-
activity to only include MHSC 
research capacity.

A draft policy document was 
prepared and considered but is not 
yet concluded. 

The MHSC has contracted more 
than 30 post-graduate students 
for bursary approval and research 
project involvement, since 2001.

Develop advice on initiatives to 
increase the research capacity 
on a national basis .

N/A N/A The MHSC has re-focused this activity 
to only include research capacity 
within the MHSC. 

Identify and input into capacity 
building programmes with 
MQA, MHSI and research 
organisations, universities and 
tertiary institutions .

6/07 No Due in the 2007/8 period.

5.2  Liaise with other 
stakeholders (e.g. MQA) 
regarding capacity 
building (Based on the 
review in 5.1).

Provide input to MQA for the 
development and updating of 
qualifi cations.

Quarterly Yes Ongoing activity between the 
MHSC and the MQA. Direct input 
is provided to MRAC by a MQA 
representative.    

5.3  Ensure that capacity 
building is in line 
with transformation 
imperatives.

Ensure that reports and 
programs under 5.1 and 5.2 
contain a consolidated section 
focused on transformation 
imperatives.

03/07 No Draft policy document to be 
approved and implemented during 
2007/8. 

MHSC Strategic Objectives and Performance (Continued)
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Key Activity Indicators Target Date Achieved Comments

Objective 6: Ensure the effective and effi cient operation of  the MHSC

6.1 Review the MHSC’s 
constitutional mandate 
insofar as it relates to 
its advisory versus its 
operational roles.

Await outcome of 6.2. Not yet due No Contingent on outcomes under 6.2.

6.2  Review the interaction 
between the MHSC and 
Minister, between MHSC 
and Chief Inspector, MHSC 
and Inspectorate.

Arrange bi-annual meetings 
with the Minister. (To coincide 
with 3 above).

Bi-annually Yes The MHSC met with the Minister 
of Minerals and Energy twice to 
consider important issues.

Obtain clarity on government’s 
future intentions for OHS 
structures.

03/07 Yes The matter is considered by an OHS 
Integration Task Group.  

6.3  Review the internal 
structures and processes of 
the MHSC, including: 
-  Interaction between 

the MHSC and its 
committees;

-  Role, structure and 
operations of the 
MHSC Offi ce; and

-  MHSC adherence to 
relevant legislation 
e.g. PFMA.

Assess the need for 
improvement of other MHSC 
processes (e.g. committee 
structures).

04/07 Yes Current research processes were 
streamlined. 

Further means to improve research 
processes are on the MHSC Agenda 
according to an implementation 
plan. 
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Performance Overview

The South African mining industry has adopted specifi c occupational health and safety 
milestones during the 2003 MHSC Summit with the objective to achieve sustained reductions 
in, and an eventual zero target of mining-related fatalities and injuries, as well as to eliminate 
silicosis and noise-induced hearing loss at source. 

Industry members recommitted themselves at the 2005 MHSC Summit to reach the following 
OHS milestones and targets:

1 Occupational Safety – Fatalities and Injuries

1.1 Industry Target: Zero rate of  fatalities and injuries

1.1.1 Milestones:
• In the Gold Sector: By 2013, achieve safety performance levels equivalent to current 

international benchmarks for underground metalliferous mines at the least; and
• In the Platinum, Coal and Other Sectors: By 2013, achieve constant and continuous 

improvement equivalent to current international benchmarks at the least.

The safety performance at mines has not improved suitably to achieve the required industry 
milestones that were set at the Third MHSC Biennial Summit in 2003. 

Rock-related accidents still account for most fatalities in the mining industry with machinery 
and transport accidents causing the second most fatalities.  

The MHSC has prioritised its research programme for the 2006/7 period to address these major 
occupational safety risks in the mining industry.      

2 Occupational Health 

2.1 Industry Target: Elimination of  Silicosis

2.1.1 Milestones:
• By December 2008, 95% of all exposure measurement results will be below the 

occupational exposure limit for respirable crystalline silica of 0.1 mg/m3 (these results 
are individual readings and not average results); and

• After December 2013, using present diagnostic techniques, no new cases of silicosis will 
occur amongst previously unexposed individuals (Previously unexposed individuals 
= individuals unexposed prior to 2008, i.e. equivalent to a new person entering the 
industry in 2008).

Silicosis and silico-tuberculosis still represent the major contributors to occupational mortality 
in mines which has prompted industry stakeholders to set the specifi c occupational milestones 
on the prevention and elimination of the disease. 

The MHSC has prioritised its research programme for the 2006/7 period to address these major 
occupational health risks in the mining industry.

3 Noise Induced Hearing Loss (NIHL)

3.1 Industry target: Elimination of  Noise Induced Hearing Loss 
(NIHL)

3.1.1 Milestones:
• After December 2008, the hearing conservation programme implemented by the 

industry must ensure that there is no hearing deterioration greater than 10% amongst 
occupationally exposed individuals; and

Objective 1: Achievement of  milestones to 
promote the prevention of  death, injury and 
disease within the mining industry
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• By December 2013, the total noise emitted by all equipment installed in any workplace must  not exceed a sound pressure 
level of 110 dB(A) at any location in that workplace (includes individual pieces of equipment).  (Note: The present noise 
exposure limit specifi ed in the MHSA Regulations is 85 dBl

Aeq, 8h
, meaning an average noise exposure level of  85 dB throughout an 

eight hour exposure period)

Noise induced hearing loss (NIHL) has been recognised as the second major occupational health risk in the South African mining industry 
after silicosis. MHSC research on NIHL reported that approximately 89 per cent of workers are exposed to noise levels above 85 dB.

The MHSC has prioritised its research programme for the 2006/7 period to address NIHL as a major occupational health risk in the 
mining industry.

PERFORMANCE

During the 2006/7 fi nancial year, the MHSC has addressed the key objective to achieve the agreed to milestones by means of the 
following four main activities and sub activities: 

1.1 Defi ne and review the MHSC’s plan to facilitate the achievement of the industry  
milestones (on mining safety, NIHL and Silicosis)

1.1.1 Elimination of  Silicosis

The 5-year Silicosis Programme has commenced with a fi nal completion date of 2010. 

Final reports for the fi rst year’s research outcomes were approved and disseminated to the industry, including an information pack 
containing an informative booklet, CD and DVD.
 
1.1.2 Elimination of  NIHL 

A research project to address the elimination of NIHL was gazetted in June 2006. The approved research programme is in progress and 
on track.     

1.1.3 Rockbursts Research Programme

The proposal for a 5-year research programme has been completed and approved. In addition, the review of all training relevant to the 
transfer of rockburst knowledge and technology has been fi nalised. 

The section on a survey of standard operating procedures and best practices on rockburst-prone mines has been completed. 
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Results from Phase 2, Output 3, entitled ‘Minimising the Rockburst Risk’ relating to Guidelines, Standards and Best Practice for Seismic 
Hazard Assessment and Rockburst Risk Management conclude that:
• Seismic monitoring, analysis and interpretation are key components of the risk-management system on rockburst-prone mines; 
• Standards have been set for some areas of mine seismology practice such as network design and emergency response but in other 

areas such as data processing, only guidelines can be provided;
• Most seismic hazard assessment and risk management methods currently in use have not been evaluated and validated; 
• Methods mostly rely on local experience and subjective judgment. Tacit knowledge needs to be translated in explicit guidelines and 

procedures; 
• Short-term seismic hazard assessments are not reliable for use in routine rockburst risk management despite research efforts. 

Outcomes relating to improved procedures should be pursued; and
• Promising research approaches include forecasting of rockbursts through real-time integration of seismic and rock deformation 

data (such as acoustic emissions and measurements of stope closure and tilt), mining data and numerical models of rock mass 
behaviour.      

1.1.4 Implement the outcomes of  the Rockfall Elimination Programme

During the year, a programme to address the elimination of rockfalls has also commenced. The programme comprises three projects.  
The project is an important initiative to address the milestones for safety, as rockfalls make up the largest single cause of fatalities (25 
– 30 per cent) in the SA mining industry.

1.1.5 Implement, monitor and evaluate SIMRAC research programme, to contribute to the 
achievements of  industry milestones

The MHSC Research Programme for the 2006/7 period was approved at a cost of R43,1 million refl ecting an increase of approximately 6 
per cent, from R40,6 million in 2005/6. This corresponds to a per-capita research expenditure of R92 per mine employee.

New and continuation research projects on airborne pollutants and noise induced hearing loss  represented the main focus areas within 
occupational health research, and occupational safety research was focused on the prevention of rockfalls and rockbursts at a cost of 
R50 million over a 5 year period. 

The programme for the Elimination of Rockfalls has started and comprises of three tracks:
• Design of equipment to give early warning of impending rockfalls;
• Value of safety spending on overall mine viability; and
• The impact of law, regulations and codes of practice on safety in rockfall control.

Several gazetted requests for proposals 
did not result in submissions and these, 
together with provisional projects, were 
again gazetted during July 2006.

Safety-related projects accounted for 46 
per cent of the research budget whilst 
occupational health and generic projects 
totalled 54 per cent of the budget.  

Important occupational health research 
programmes including the Elimination of 
Silicosis Phase 2 (R13 million) and addressing 
NIHL (R3 million) were approved. 

The Thibela project on TB prevention 
continued during 2006/7.  
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A report on recommendations to improve the effectiveness of the research programme was recommended by SIMRAC to the MHSC for 
approval during January 2007. 

Research contracts approved under the 2006/7 period include the following under the relevant thrust areas:

Project number Project title under thrust area
Thrust 1: Human factors/Behavioral safety

06 01 01  Development of practical guideline on fatigue management. 

Thrust 2: Rockfalls

06 02 01 Rockfall elimination programme.

06 02 02 Closure monitoring – UG 2 (Bushveld) identify hazardous conditions – Phase 3.

Thrust 3: Rockbursts 

04 03 01 Design of closely spaced dip pillars.

04 03 04 Piloting of mobile face support systems.

05 03 01 Technology transfer facility to promote rockburst and rockfall control. 

05 03 02 Managing the rockburst risk.

Thrust 4: Explosions and fi res

04 04 03 The role of static electricity in the ignition of fl ammable gas in mine fi res. 

05 04 01 Improved ventilation of CM headings in coal mines.

Thrust 5: Machinery and transport systems

05 05 01 Prevention of NIHL Programme (4 projects). 

05 05 02 HIRA on trackless mobile equipment.

06 05 02 Best practice guide for scraper winches.

06 05 03 Identify the reasons for electrical accidents in SA mines.

Thrust 6: Airborne pollutants

05 06 01 Exposure of CO in deep underground mines. 

06 06 01 Status (base lining) of noise and dust exposure. 

Thrust 8: Occupational diseases

06 08 01 Dermatitis in the SA mining industry.

06 08 02 The development of an eye health and safety policy for gold mining. 

Thrust 9: Special Projects 

03 09 01 Developing criteria and evaluation tools applicable to different models for provision of comprehensive 
emergency medical services in the mining industry.

04 09 05 Database of catastrophic accidents in the SA mining industry.

06 09 01 Searchable SIMRAC Research.

06 09 04a Integration of leading indicators with modern technology transfer tools – safety.

06 09 06 Criminal and civil liability of employers in the SA mining industry.

06 09 07 Molecular characterisation of clinical and environmental isolates of Mycobacterium kansasii bacteria. 

1.2 Communicate and ensure the understanding of the milestones within the sector

1.2.1 Implement a strategy

The MHSC implemented a communications plan during 2006/7. 

Industry stakeholders committed themselves to make every effort to reach the targets on the milestones. Their activities included the 
following:  
• State members reported that 14 working groups have been established and feedback has been received from 76 mines. Quarterly 

meetings are being held by the DME Silicosis Working Group;
• Labour members reported that the group was focusing on training and awareness on Elimination of Silicosis for employees. Labour 

is also assisting researchers on Track C of the Silicosis Elimination Programme; and 
• Employer members reported that the employers group was very active in their collective efforts towards promoting the milestones. 

An industry Task Force was established after the 2006 Employer Summit.  The aim of the Task Force was to formulate health and 
safety strategies for the mining industry to help ensure the achievement of the 2013 milestones. The Task Force established three 
Focus Groups, namely, leadership, noise and dust, and technology and best practice transfer. The Focus Groups were tasked with 
establishing a framework for ‘zero harm’ leadership action, addressing issues of enhancement and strengthening of occupational 
health in the mining industry as well as researching the barriers in technology and best practice transfer. 

 The Focus Groups set out to do their work by undertaking literature reviews, doing a study tour, conducting interviews in randomly 
selected mines and analysing the International Council on Mining and Metals safety and health conference outcome. 

 The work of the technology and best practice transfer Focus Group has been completed and will be piloted and applied during the 
coming year through other Task Force structures. The Task Force is supporting the move from sharing to adoption of best practices 
and technology in industry by establishing adoption teams, which are aimed at enhancing industry involvement and commitment 
towards the achievement of the milestones. The Task Force will also initiate leadership dialogues on key challenges to the industry 
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that they identifi ed during the past year. 
 The Task Force resolved that health should feature more strongly on the leadership agenda. Key challenges related to sampling and 

analysis methodologies, control measures, new technologies and progress monitoring will be addressed during the coming year. 

1.2.2 Review understanding of  the milestones within the industry, through a survey

This research activity will be undertaken following a reasonable and measurable strategy implementation period.        

1.3 Develop mechanisms for monitoring (e.g. ensure databases are appropriate), and 
monitor and evaluate progress against the plan 

1.3.1 Develop new monitoring systems

The research project investigating database reliability has been completed. Outcomes of the project (SIM 04 09 02) will provide direction 
to the development of further mechanisms. 

1.3.2 Monitor, and evaluate achievement against milestones 

Safety data are presented to the MHSC on a quarterly basis. An evaluation for the period was done in April 2007 and MHSC tripartite 
members were requested to report on individual mechanisms to hasten progress.   

During the period, the number of fatalities has reduced from 202 in 2005 to 199 in 2006. The annual milestones require the reduction 
of the fatality rate by 20 per cent.  Due to the lack of improvement of the fatality rate during 2006, the industry will now have to reduce 
their rate by 24 per cent per annum, to achieve the 10-year safety milestone that were agreed to by the mining industry in 2003.

1.4 Review past research

1.4.1 Manage execution of  the research project according to the agreed plan 

The 2nd Phase of the SIMRAC project on a review of past research (to the amount of R2,4 million) was approved by the MHSC during May 
2006.  

This project was one of the MHSC’s key projects for the 2006/7 year.  The project is signifi cant in that it will assist the MHSC to identify the 
impediments associated with the implementation of research outcomes in terms of technology transfer.  

The research project has been concluded and is currently under international peer review.

1.4.2 Develop an effective plan for implementation of  the recommendations

The activity is only due after completion of the research review project. 

Performance Overview (Continued)
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Objective 2: Promote and drive the 
legislative review
The MHSC is tasked to review mining legislation and to advise the Minister of Minerals and 
Energy on regulatory changes in compliance with the provisions of the MHSA. Many current 
regulatory amendments are based on recommendations made by the Leon Commission of 
Inquiry into Safety and Health in the Mining Industry. 

Key strategic issues addressed during 2006/7 include:
• Developing a strategic legislative agenda; and 
• Completing the current legislative programme. 

PERFORMANCE

1 Develop a strategic legislative agenda

1.1. Develop a legislative agenda that is comprehensive (i.e. also 
includes small-scale mines)

The MHSC has proposed a research project on outcomes-based legislation. The initial project 
was cancelled due to the contractor’s inability to comply with the requirements of the project.
A refocused proposal will be fi nalised after which tenders will be invited from research 
institutions.

It is expected that the research work on outcomes-based legislation will commence in 2008.   

Plans to develop a research agenda that supports the MHSC’s strategic legislative agenda was 
removed from the MHSC Strategic Plan. The MHSC will review the related activity towards the 
end of 2007. 

2 Complete the current legislative programme

2.1. Facilitate the understanding and implementation of  new 
regulations

The following Regulations and Amendments to the MHSA were promulgated and appeared in 
the Government Gazette, as follows:  

1.  Regulations relating to the payment of levies by mines on the 
basis of health and safety risk.

18 August 2006, 
GG Notice # 29144

2.  Regulations relating to machinery and equipment. 8 September 2006, 
GG Notice # 29214

3.  Amendment to the regulations in respect of occupational 
hygiene – Occupational Exposure Limits.

5 October 2006, 
GG Notice #29276

4.  Regulations relating to explosives. 15 December 2006, 
GG Notice #29458

5.  Amendments to the Regulations – Chapter 22.14 relating to 
‘Competent person’. 

19 January 2007, 
GG Notice #29544

The following Mine Health and Safety Act regulations were completed during the reporting 
period: 
• Under Water Mining;
• Winding Engine Drivers and Onsetters;
• Water Storage and Pumping;
• Orepasses and Drawpoints;
• Exit Certifi cate and Record of Hazardous Work;
• Emergency Preparedness and Response;
• Process Plants;
• Regulation 28.12.A (Recognition of MQA Qualifi cation for acceptance to Mine Overseer and 

Mine Managers Certifi cates of Competency); and
• Flammable Gas Regulations.
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The following Guidelines for Mandatory Codes of Practice were approved during the reporting period:
• Diving operations Procedure Manual for Underwater Mining Operations;
• Design, development/construction, safe operation and maintenance of draw points, tipping points, rock passes and box fronts; 
• Safe Operation of Monorail Systems;
• Combat Rockmass Failure Accidents in Massive Mining Operations; and
• Emergency Preparedness and Response.

Mine Health and Safety Act legislation completed

Topic Codes of  
Practice Regulations 

Accidents, Injuries and Investigations Yes
Airborne Pollutants Yes Yes
Annual Medical Reports Yes
Audiometry Yes
Coal Dust and Flammable Explosions Yes Yes
Compressors Yes
Cyanide Handling (Guideline) Yes
Exit Certifi cate,  Annual Medical Report and Medical Surveillance Yes
Explosives Yes Yes
Falls of Ground Collieries Yes Yes
Falls of Ground Massive Mining Yes Yes
Falls of Ground in Slope Instability  in Surface Mines Yes Yes
Falls of Ground Metalliferous Yes Yes
Fans Yes
Fires and Explosions Yes
Flammable Gas Explosions (Coal) Yes Yes
Flammable Gas Explosions (other than Coal) Yes Yes
Hearing Conservation Program (Guidelines COP) Yes
Illumination Yes
Initial Examinations (Guideline COP) Yes
Lifting Equipment Yes
Lung Function Test (Guidance Note) Yes
Mandatory Reporting (Regulation) Yes
Mine Residue Deposits Yes
Monorail Transport Yes
Noise (Regulation) Yes Yes
Occupational Hygiene Regulations Yes 
Outlets Yes
Periodical Medical Examinations (Guidelines COP) Yes
Protection: Surface and Workings Yes
Refrigeration Yes
Respiratory Protective Equipment (Regulation) Yes
Rope Selection Factors Yes
Safety Management System (Guideline) Yes
Scraper Winches and Monorope winches Yes
Self Contained Self Rescuers Yes
Standards of Medical fi tness (Guidelines COP) Yes
Survey Yes
TB Control (Guidance Note) Yes
Thermal Stresses (Guidelines COP) Yes
Trackless Mobile Machinery Yes Yes
Tripartite Institutions, Health and Safety Committees Yes
Underground Railbound Transport Equipment Yes Yes
Under Water Mining Yes Yes
Winding Engine Drivers and Onsetters Yes
Water Storage and Pumping Yes
Orepasses and Drawpoints
Competencies dependant on Registration issue Yes Yes
Exit Certifi cate and Record of Hazardous Work Yes
Emergency Preparedness and Response
Process Plants Yes
Regulation 28.12.A(Recognition of MQA Qualifi cation for acceptance to M/O and MMC of 
Competency

Yes
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In terms of the MHSA, the MHSC advises the Minister of Minerals and Energy on OHS legislation 
and research outcomes focused on improving occupational health and safety in mines. 

In order to address this strategic objective the MHSC focused on the following key activity:  
• Identify priority issues, e.g. Silicosis, HIV and AIDS, national integration of health; and 
• Safety structures, and develop mechanisms for identifying issues on an ongoing basis.

PERFORMANCE

Two sub activities were addressed: 

1 Developing mechanisms for recognition of priority 
issues, to ensure proactive advice to the Minister

Meetings were held with the Minister twice during the reporting period. Certain pertinent issues 
have been considered which are currently being continued within the MHSC structures. 

The MHSC Final Quarterly report for 2006/7 reported that the following issues were considered: 
• The national integration of health and safety bodies;  
• The need for reliable databases to track health and safety performance; 
• The Minister’s call for a Mini Indaba to address fatalities relating to rockbursts and 

seismicity;
• The implementation of research;
• Capacity development; and 
• The role and further empowerment of health and safety committees on mines.

2 Developing and providing timeous advice on OHS; 
regulation of engineering work; OHS targets and 
milestones and on national OHS infrastructure 

The following outcomes have resulted from this sub-activity:
• A Draft HIV/AIDS Guideline for Small Mines is currently being debated in MHSC structures;
• The SIMRAC research project SIM 03 09 05, (The effects of HIV/AIDS on occupational health 

and safety) investigated the impact of HIV/AIDS on occupational health and safety by means 
of a literature review; interviews with mine medical doctors, organised labour (NUM) and 
government (Department of Mineral and Energy), and two retrospective studies; and 

• Issues around the regulation of engineering work have been discussed in workshops and 
committees. A document was tabled and is being further considered. 

Objective 3: Advise the minister on mining 
health and safety issues
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Objective 4: Promote and facilitate the 
development of  a preventative culture to drive 
the health and safety agenda

The MHSA mandates the MHSC to promote a culture of health and safety in the mining industry 
and to arrange and co-ordinate a tripartite summit every two years, to review the state of health 
and safety at mines.

The MHSC has identifi ed two key activities and sub activities to address this objective, namely:

1 Develop and implement a promotional strategy for 
improved health and safety awareness and education

 
1.1 Implement a promotions strategy 

1.2 Arrange a biennial summit

1.3 Review the impact of  the promotion strategy after 
implementation 

2 Build a network of appropriate external organisations 
to drive health and safety 

2.1 Identify and document new networks on local and international 
databases and develop priority networks

PERFORMANCE

1 Develop and implement a promotional strategy for 
improved health and safety awareness and education

1.1 Implement a promotions strategy 

The MHSC approved a Communication Policy during January 2007 to endorse the existing 
communication activities, target audiences, messages, media, processes and procedures. 
During 2006/7, the following public relations and promotional activities have been undertaken 
successfully: 

1.1.1 Written Communications
The MHSC presented its Annual Report for the 2005/6 period to Parliament during September 
2006. 

More than 1500 copies of the 2005/6 Annual Report have been distributed nationally and 
internationally to primary and secondary target audiences, including individuals, mines, mining 
houses, research organizations, professionals, the print and electronic media, and legal deposits. 
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Books and booklets on a variety of technical subjects relating to practical guidelines on occupational health and safety have been 
distributed to primary and secondary target audiences, including to national libraries.  

Informative Resource Packages, including booklets, CDs and DVDs on the Elimination of Silicosis, as well as on the Prevention of Noise 
and Vibration, have been distributed to mines’ medical professionals, hygienists, mining equipment manufacturers, associations and 
mine workers.    

A total of more than four thousand MHSC Newsletters were distributed to primary and secondary target audiences and electronic 
versions have been forwarded to approximately fi fty recipients. 

Information provided in the Newsletters promoted the work of the MHSC and its stakeholders, and included articles on: 
• The elimination of silicosis; 
• Tuberculosis;  
• Amendments and Regulations under the MHSA; 
• The Ten Tick Guide to health and safety strategies; 
• Quality Assurance guidelines for rock support systems, including a CD;
• MHSC Safety awards winners;
• Information on MHSC research project launches to introduce research outcomes and information resources to the mining 

industry; 
• Courses in OHS in mines; and
• OHS at mines events.  
 

Press releases relating to mine safety (Occupational health and safety in deep level mining), 
the MHSC research programme (Millions set aside for mine safety), and occupational health 
(Minister Sonjica launches Thibela TB project at Tau Tona mine) appeared in specialised 
(Mining Weekly) and national publications (Business Day, The Star).   

Journal articles on MHSC research projects appeared in, amongst others:
• African Newsletter (Noise and Vibration);
• Occupational Health Southern Africa (Silicosis); 
• Occupational Medicine, London (Hand-arm vibration syndrome in South African gold 

miners); and   
• Annals of  Occupational Hygiene (Rock Drills used in South African Mines: a Comparative 

Study of Noise and Vibration Levels).

1.1.2 Electronic Communications
More than 800 informative CDs and DVDs on a wide range of subjects, including rock support 
quality control, non-standard stope support, silicosis elimination, noise and vibration control, 
transportation accidents, and strata control, were distributed and provided to primary and 
secondary target audiences.

1.1.3 Events
During 2006/7, the MHSC promoted its activities and occupational health and safety awareness at the following events which resulted 
in face to face interaction with approximately 1000 stakeholders including mineworkers, leaders, professionals, management and 
manufacturers.      
• Employer OHS Summit, Johannesburg – 8 June 2006; 
• SANIRE Symposium, Rustenburg – 20 October 2006; 
• Mine Safety EXPO, Orkney – 3 November 2006; 
• Noshcon, Sun City – 15 – 17 November 2006; and 
• Tripartite HIV & AIDS Summit, Randburg – 21 November 2006 

MHSC promotions included exhibits to promote OHS at mines and to disperse information 
in the form of books and booklets, DVDs and CDs on subjects including,  but not limited to, 
illumination, noise, vibration, hot environments, welding, silicosis, TB, rock support quality 
assurance, anomalies in gold and platinum mining stopes, preconditioning guidelines, stope 
gully support, and on the MHSA. 

MHSC research contractors have demonstrated prototype equipment such as the ‘quiet’ rock 
drill as well as completed designs, for example, the making-safe pinch bar.  

During the year, twenty seven MHSC Safety Award ceremonies were held at mines, a number 
of which were attended by MHSC tripartite members, management and employees. 
  
Ongoing plans during 2007/8 will ensure that mine management, mining professionals and 
employees will be made aware that MHSC Awards are conferred by the MHSC.       

1.1.4 Safety Awards 
The MHSC recently concluded a research project (SIM 04 09 09) on the infl uence of production 
and safety incentive systems on OHS performance in order to establish defi ciencies and needs 
by which to enhance current bonus systems, including MHSC Safety Awards. 
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The project conclusion highlighted the following fi ndings:
• The importance of health and safety steering committees on mines; 
• The value of the MHSC Safety Awards system; 
• The need for gain-sharing systems to ensure the fair distribution of production bonuses to all employees; 
• A participatory-based approach to communicating safety issues rather than an instruction-based communication approach; and 
• Enhanced levels of training, capacity and literacy levels in the SA mining industry.

The MHSC confers the following Safety Awards to mines:    
• Millionaire Award - to recognise the milestone of achieving one million fatality free shifts on any mine;
• Thousand Fatality Free Production Shifts award - to recognise the milestone of achieving 1 000 fatality free production shifts on 

any mine; and 
• Certifi cates of Excellence - to recognise the achievement of a participating entity which has performed better than the international 

benchmark for the mining sector in which the participating entity operates. 

International benchmarks refl ected as ‘lost time injury frequency rate per million hours worked’, is determined annually by the Mining 
Inspectorate using the SAMRASS database, which incorporates all the accidents reported by industry in terms of Regulation 23.1 of the 
MHSA. 

• Safety Achievement Flag - to award mines which have the highest per centage improvement in its allocated risk, (in terms of days 
lost, when comparing two consecutive three year periods, the same periods that are used to calculate the OHS Levy). 

 The Safety Achievement Flag is divided into the following categories:
 - Ultra deep gold and platinum mines  (>2 000 m);
 - Shallow to deep gold and platinum mines (<2 000 m);
 - Coal mines; and
 - Other mines
• Individual Awards – are conferred to any individual, or group of individuals, such as a mine rescue team or a mine safety committee, 

which has contributed to the overall health and safety program of a mine, and in a manner that has led to a signifi cant improvement 
in conditions at that mine, and nominated by the manager of that mine or the employee representatives for an Individual award. 

Nominations are assessed to determine whether or not such a nomination is warranted.  Any specifi c acts of bravery are also considered 
for this specifi c award. 

The following mines have qualifi ed for Safety Awards under the MHSC Award Scheme, from April 2006 to March 2007: 

• Safety Achievement Flag
Category Collieries Greenside Colliery 

Category Other Mines Assmang Manganese

Category Shallow Gold/Platinum Mines Fairview Gold Mine 

Category Ultra Deep Gold/Platinum Mines Blyvooruitzicht Gold Mine   
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• Millionaire Award 
Harmony Merriespruit 3 Million (2) 2006/03/03

South Deep Million (2) 2006/03/03

Matla 2 Million (1) 2006/03/06

Kloof Mine Million (1) 2006/04/04

RPM Lower Mine Million (1) 2006/04/24

Kroondal Platinum Million (1) 2006/05/08

Impala Platinum 10 Shaft Million (1) 2006/05/30

RPM Upper Mine Million (1) 2006/06/14

Eastern Platinum Million (5) 2006/06/21

Optimum Colliery Million (3) 2006/06/22

De Beers Finsch Mine Million (5) 2006/06/23

Africa Underground Region Metallurgy Million (9) 2006/07/04

Bafokeng Rasimone Million (1) 2006/08/02

Driefontein Consolidated Million (1) 2006/08/11

Northam Platinum Million (1) 2006/08/16

RPM Union Section Million (1) 2006/08/17

Impala Platinum 4 Shaft Million (1) 2006/08/28

RPM Amandelbult Million (1) 2006/08/28

Impala Platinum 1 Shaft Million (1) 2006/08/30

RPM Central Services Million (4) 2006/09/02

Holcim Cement Ulco Million (2) 2006/09/12

Marula Platinum Million (1) 2006/10/11

Mamatwan Manganese Million (2) 2006/10/27

RPM Union Section Million (2) 2006/11/16

Impala Platinum 7 Shaft Million (3) 2006/12/09

RPM Lower Mine Million (1) 2006/12/28

Grootegeluk Coal Mine Million (4) 2007/01/02

Middelburg Mining Million (5) 2007/01/04

RPM Upper Mine Million (1) 2007/01/05

Brandspruit Colliery Million (3) 2007/01/07

Elandsrand Mine Million (1) 2007/01/23

RPM Amandelbult Million (1) 2007/01/30

Driefontein Consolidated Million (1) 2007/02/07

Aquarius Kroondal Million (2) 2007/02/23

RPM Lower Mine Million (2) 2007/03/02

Goldfi elds Freestate Million (1) 2007/03/16

Impala 6 Shaft Million (1) 2007/03/21
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• Thousand Fatality Free Production Shifts Award 
Xstrata Horizon Mine Thousand (1) 2006/03/17

Apollo Bricks Gauteng Thousand (2) 2006/03/30

Crown Gold Recoveries Thousand (1) 2006/04/27

Kriel Colliery Surface Plant Thousand (28) 2006/05/03

Xstrata Thorncliffe Thousand (4) 2006/05/04

PPC Lime Thousand (1) 2006/05/14

Idwala Lime Thousand (7) 2006/05/22

Vergenoeg Mining Co Thousand (7) 2006/05/22

Langvlei Quarry Thousand (7) 2006/05/23

TGME Thousand (3) 2006/06/24

Landau Colliery Thousand (3) 2006/06/29

Kroondal Chrome Mine Thousand (1) 2006/07/30

New Denmark Colliery Thousand (1) 2006/08/11

Marikana Platinum Thousand (2) 2006/08/18

Sedibeng Diamonds Thousand (4) 2006/08/23

Polmaise Colliery Thousand (2) 2006/08/31

Holcim Dudfi eld Thousand (2) 2006/09/01

Dominium Reefs Uranium Mine Thousand (3) 2006/09/11

Kriel Opencast Thousand (7) 2006/09/20

Forzando Colliery Thousand (7) 2006/09/23

South Witbank Colliery Thousand (9) 2006/10/04

Kriel Colliery Northwest Shaft Thousand (13) 2006/11/01

Helam Diamonds Thousand (2) 2006/11/08

Dwarsrivier Chrome Thousand (2) 2006/11/25

Xstrata Waterval Mine Thousand (2) 2006/11/29

Greenside Colliery Thousand (3) 2006/12/07

Thabazimbi Iron Ore Thousand (4) 2007/01/06

Dorstfontein Colliery Thousand (5) 2007/01/17

Xstrata Helena Mine Thousand (2) 2007/01/24

Xstrata Mototolo Mine Thousand (1) 2007/02/16

Xstrata Rietvlei Silica Thousand (2) 2007/03/02

 
1.2 Arrange a Biennial Summit

The 2007 MHSC Biennial Summit is planned for 5 October 2007. 
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Objective 5: Promote and facilitate the 
development of  capacity to drive the health 
and safety agenda

The MHSC is tasked to facilitate the building and promotion of necessary capacity to drive the 
OHS agenda in the mining sector.   

During 2006/7, the MHSC focused on three key activities and their sub-activities, namely:

1 Develop an agenda for capacity building, internally 
within the MHSC and externally within the DME and 
Inspectorate, employers, employees, and health and 
safety practitioners 

1.1  Review current capacity of  health and safety within the 
industry 

1.2  Develop advice on initiatives to increase the research capacity 
on a national basis 

1.3  Identify and input into capacity building programmes with 
MQA, MHSI and research organisations, universities and 
tertiary institutions   

2 Liaise with other stakeholders, e.g. MQA, regarding 
capacity building  

2.1  Provide input to MQA for the development and updating of  
qualifi cations

3  Ensure that capacity building is in line with 
transformational imperatives

3.1  Ensure that reports and programs under 1 and 2 contain a 
consolidated section focused on transformation imperatives

PERFORMANCE

1 Develop an agenda for capacity building, internally 
within the MHSC and externally within the DME and 
Inspectorate, employers, employees, and health and 
safety practitioners 

1.1 Review current capacity of  health and safety within the 
industry (Activities to be included in past research review 
project; to extend to health professionals, the Inspectorate 
and within research capacity. Transformational aspects to be 
considered and presented in a consolidated form)  

The MHSC Offi ce has prepared a draft document for a Capacity Development Policy to be 
considered by the MHSC.  This sub-activity is not yet concluded.

Since 2001, the MHSC has contracted more than 30 post-graduate students for bursary work 
and research project involvement. The Council makes a concerted effort to attract and to 
involve students within larger research programmes, such as within the Elimination of Silicosis 
programme. 
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The MHSC Post-graduate Student Funding Policy, which was approved in 2006, includes general principles, procedures and practices to 
guide the MHSC’s bursary funding allocation. 

The Bursary Funding includes funding for fundamental studies, exploratory investigations to establish emerging risks, applied and 
developmental work aimed at practicable solutions, and investigating, researching, designing and enhancing computer programs and 
information systems.   

The Policy endorses research within the following areas:  
• Occupational medicine and hygiene; 
• Rock engineering and strata control;
• Mining practices and processes, engineering, transport and machinery;
• Behavioural safety and human factors, and  
• Aspects relating to personal protective equipment. 

1.2  Develop advice on initiatives to increase the research capacity on a national basis
 
The MHSC has re-focused this activity to only include research capacity within the MHSC, in compliance with the MHSA and in terms of 
the MHSC’s mandate.    

1.3 Identify and input into capacity building programmes with MQA, MHSI and research 
organisations, universities and tertiary institutions   

The sub activity is expected to be completed in June 2007. 

2 Liaise with other stakeholders, e.g. MQA, regarding capacity building

2.1 Provide input to MQA for the development and updating of  qualifi cations

Ongoing and structured interaction takes place between the MHSC and the MQA to ensure the development of national qualifi cations 
requirements and criteria for the mining industry.       

3  Ensure that capacity building is in line with transformational imperatives

3.1 Ensure that reports and programs under 1 and 2 contain a consolidated section focused on 
transformation imperatives

MHSC Programmes and Reports are not yet in line with transformational imperatives. 

Certain post-graduate projects have been converted to short projects due to a lack of student interest. This includes SIM 05 06 01 
“Exposure to carbon monoxide in deep underground mining” and SIM 05 08 03 “Post-traumatic stress disorders”. 

For the 2006/7 period, the following post-graduate research projects have been approved by the MHSC, either as continuation projects 
or as newly contracted work: 

Project Number Project title
Thrust 1: Human Factors/Behavioral Safety

05 01 01 Smoking prevention programme for SA mining 

Thrust 2: Rockfalls

02 02 11 3-D analyses of stress & strain distribution 

05 02 04 Roof bolt condition monitoring

Thrust 4: Explosions and Fires

04 04 03 Role of static electricity in the ignition of fl ammable gas and mine fi res

Thrust 6: Airborne pollutants

05 06 02 Effect of crystalline silica on macrophages and lymphocytes

Thrust 8: Occupational Diseases 

05 08 03 Post-traumatic stress disorder

06 08 02 The development of an eye health and safety policy for gold mining  

Thrust 9: Special Projects 

05 09 04 30 yr trend analysis of occupational lung disease on PATHAUT 

06 09 07 Molecular characterization of clinical and environmental isolates of mycobacterium kansasii 
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The MHSC strives to operate in compliance with the MHSA, as well as with other relevant 
legislation, policies and national and international standards governing its diverse activities as 
a public entity within the mining sector.  

Legislation governing the MHSC includes but is not limited to:
• PFMA and Treasury Regulations,
• Reporting by Public Entities Amendment Act, 
• Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act, 
• Labour Relations Act, 
• Employment Equity Act, 
• Promotion of Access to Information Act, 
• Copyright Act, 
• Legal Deposit Act, 
• Publications Act, 
• SA Mining Charter, 
• Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act, and
• Broad Based Socio-Economic Empowerment Charter. 

The MHSC has identifi ed the following key activities and indicators to support this strategic 
objective, to ensure that its management, operations and activities are effectively and 
appropriately governed.   

6.1 Review the MHSC’s constitutional mandate insofar that 
it relates to its advisory versus its operational roles

6.2 Review the interaction between the MHSC and the 
Minister; the MHSC and the CIOM, and the MHSC and 
the Mining Inspectorate

6.2.1 Arrange bi-annual meetings with the Minister and coinciding 
with activities associated under Strategic Objective 3; to advise 
the Minister) 

6.2.2 Obtain clarity on government’s future intentions for OHS 
structures

6.3 Review the internal structures and processes of the 
MHSC, including a review of: 

 - The interaction between the MHSC and its committees;
 - The role, structure and operations of the MHSC Offi ce; and 
 - Compliance by the MHSC to relevant legislation. 

PERFORMANCE 

The MHSC have undertaken the following activities under each key indicator:

6.1 Review the MHSC’s constitutional mandate insofar that 
it relates to its advisory versus its operational roles

This activity is subject to the outcomes under point 6.2 and will be addressed after its 
conclusion. 

6.2 Review the interaction between the MHSC and the 
Minister, between MHSC and the CIOM, and the MHSC 
and the Mining Inspectorate

Objective 6: Ensure the effective and effi cient 
operation of  the MHSC
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6.2.1 Arrange bi-annual meetings with the Minister to coincide with the strategic activities under 
Strategic Objective 3, relating to advising the Minister on OHS issues 

The MHSC has met with the Minister of Minerals and Energy twice during the year to consider important issues including mining 
fatalities relating to rockbursts and seismicity in gold and platinum mines, and the integration of national occupational health and 
safety structures. 

An important outcome of the above meetings is the scheduling of a MHSC Rockburst and Seismicity Indaba, planned for 7 September 2007. 

6.2.2 Obtain clarity on Government’s future intentions for OHS structures 

The MHSC has established an OHS Structures Integration Task Group during March 2007, to consider issues relating to the planned 
integration progress.   

6.3 Review the internal structures and processes of the MHSC, including:

• Interaction between the MHSC and its committees; 
• Role, structure and operations of the MHSC Offi ce; and
• The MHSC adherence to relevant legislation e.g. PFMA.

6.3.1 Assess the need for improvement of  other MHSC processes

• The MHSC adherence to relevant legislation e.g. PFMA;
• Role, structure and operations of the MHSC Offi ce; and
• Interaction between the MHSC and its committees 

The activity relating to the improvement of the MHSC processes has been concluded.

During February 2007, the MHSC has suspended its General Manager, pending a forensic audit.  

An implementation plan to enhance research processes has been approved by the MHSC during March 2007. The plan will be 
implemented in the 2007/8 research cycle and includes the development of manuals; arranging functional workshops; devising 
trend-analysis reports; amending of research contracts; improving the quality of project management and research staff capabilities; 
analysing committees’ terms of reference; and drafting technology transfer policies to ensure that research results are converted to 
usable products or marketable inventions. 

During the reporting period, the Council has decided not to approve new research projects in order to consolidate the current research 
programme. One new project was gazetted for the 2007/8 Research Period.  

A few research projects for which proposals were invited via the Government Gazette, such as the “Personal Safety Device” (2nd Phase), 
“Underground Rail-bound Systems” and “A profi ling of Small-scale mining” during 2006 did not attract suffi cient numbers of proposals 
to make comparative analyses and appoint suitable contractors.   

The MHSC will investigate further means by which to reach a wider specialist-research target group in its advertising and tender processes, 
in order to attract more research proposals. 

Council also approved an Information Technology Policy (ITP) in January 2007, to guide the management, usage and control of 
information technology within the MHSC.

The MHSC has complied with the Promotion of Information Act, as well as with the Legal Deposit Act.  Three new MHSC publications have 
been distributed to national libraries. These include:
• A practical guide to noise and vibration control - Van Niekerk and Hassall; 
• The MHSC Annual Report for 2005/6 – Zinsser; and  
• South African Mining Industry Best Practice on the Prevention of Silicosis - Stanton, Belle, Dekker, Du Plessis.

Finally, during 2006/7, the MHSC has amended a variety of fi nancial control procedures on, inter alia, Budgetary Controls, the Payroll 
accounting and control system, the Cash Focus payment system, Limitations of Authority policies and Quarterly Reporting procedures. 
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Mine Health and Safety Council

The Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999), as amended, requires the Council members to ensure that the Mine Health and 
Safety Council maintain a full and proper record of its fi nancial affairs. The Annual Financial Statements should fairly present the state 
of affairs of the Mine Health and Safety Council, its fi nancial results, its performance against predetermined objectives and its fi nancial 
position at the end of the year in terms of the Generally Recognised Accounting Practice.

The Annual Financial Statements are the responsibility of the Council members.  The external auditors are responsible for independently 
auditing and reporting on the fi nancial statements.  The Offi ce of the Auditor-General has audited the Council’s fi nancial statements and 
the Auditor-General’s report appears on Page 34.

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with Statements of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice.  
These Annual Financial Statements are based on appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable and prudent judgements 
and estimates.

The Council members have reviewed the MHSC’s budget and cash fl ow forecasts for the year ending 31 March 2008.  On the basis of this 
review, and in view of the current fi nancial position, the members, with the concurrence of the auditors, have every reason to believe 
that the MHSC will be a going concern in the year ahead.  The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on this basis.
 
To enable the Council members to meet the above responsibilities, the MHSC sets standards and implements systems of internal control 
and risk management that are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance against material misstatements and losses.  
The entity maintains internal fi nancial controls to provide assurance regarding;

• The safeguarding of assets against unauthorised use or disposition, as noted in the MHSC report; and
• The maintenance of proper accounting records and the reliability of fi nancial information used within the business or for 

publication.

The controls contain self-monitoring mechanisms, and actions are taken to correct defi ciencies as they are identifi ed.  A system of 
internal control, however, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations, including the possibility of circumvention or the 
overriding of controls.  An effective system of internal control therefore aims to provide reasonable assurance with respect to the 
reliability of fi nancial information and, in particular, the presentation of fi nancial statements.  Furthermore, because of changes in 
conditions, the effectiveness of internal fi nancial controls may vary over time. 

The Council members have reviewed the entity’s systems of internal control and risk management for the period from 1 April 2006 to 
31 March 2007.  The Council members are of the opinion that the entity’s systems of internal control and risk management were 
effective for the period under review, other than for the issues highlighted in the Council report under control systems and record 
keeping and non-compliance to the PFMA.

In the opinion of the members of Council, based on the information available to date the Annual Financial Statements fairly present 
the fi nancial position of the MSHC as at 31 March 2007 and the results of its operations and cash fl ow information for the year. It is the 
opinion of the members of Council that acceptable Codes of Business Conduct have been adhered to.

The Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2007, as set out on pages 33 to 59, were approved by the Council in terms 
of section 51(1)(f) of the Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999), as amended,  are signed on its behalf by:

T Gazi
Chairperson of Mine Health and Safety Council
31 July 2007   

D Adams
Acting General Manager
31 July 2007

Statement of Responsibility
for the year ended 31 March 2007
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND PERFORMANCE INFORMATION OF THE MINE 
HEALTH AND SAFETY COUNCIL FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2007

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction
1. I have audited the accompanying fi nancial statements of the Mine Health and Safety Council which comprise the statement of 

fi nancial position as at 31 March 2007, appropriation statement, statement of fi nancial performance, statement of changes in net 
assets and cash fl ow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory 
notes, as set out on pages 33 to 59.

Responsibility of  the Accounting Authority for the Financial Statements
2. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these fi nancial statements in accordance with 

South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice and in 
the manner required by the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA). This responsibility includes: 
• designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of fi nancial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 
• selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies 
• making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Responsibility of  the Auditor-General
3. As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 read with section 4 of the Public Audit Act, 2004 

(Act No. 25 of 2004), my responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on my audit.

4. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing and General Notice 647 of  2007, issued in 
Government Gazette No. 29919 of  25 May 2007. Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement.

5. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant 
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the fi nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 

6. An audit also includes evaluating the:
• appropriateness of accounting policies used
• reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management
• overall presentation of the fi nancial statements.

7. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Basis of  Accounting 
8. The entity’s policy is to prepare fi nancial statements in terms of South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 

and Generally Recognised Accounting Practice as set out in note 1.1 of the fi nancial statements.

Basis for Qualifi ed Opinion
9.  Bank balances and reconciliations

• The bank reconciliation at year end refl ected reconciling items totaling R28 711 that were refl ected as voided transactions. I 
could not assess the validity of the voided transactions.

• There is an unexplained difference of R153 900, by which amount the bank balance per the general ledger exceeds the bank 
balance per the cash book.

10. Property, Plant and Equipment
 Due to the malfunctioning of the fi xed assets module:

• The entity did not review the appropriateness of the current useful lives of its fi xed assets nor did it assess the residual values 
of assets as required by IAS 16;

• A list of capitalised research assets was not made available for audit purposes. In addition, depreciation on research assets was 
provided at a standard rate of 20% per annum rather than depreciating the assets over the period of the contract as required 
by policy. We could not quantify the effect of the depreciation charge and the value of capitalised research assets; and

• We could not conclude on the completeness, accuracy and valuation of fi xed assets as an updated fi xed assets register was not 
available. 

Report of the Auditor-General
for the year ended 31 March 2007
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Qualifi ed Opinion 
11. In my opinion, except for the effects of the matters referred to in the Basis for qualifi ed opinion paragraphs, the fi nancial statements 

present fairly, in all material respects, the fi nancial position of the Mine Health and Safety Council as at 31 March 2007 and its 
fi nancial performance and cash fl ows for the year then ended, in accordance with the identifi ed basis of accounting described in 
note 1.1 and in the manner required by the PFMA. 

Emphasis of  matters 
12. Highlight of a matter affecting the fi nancial statements which is included in a note to the fi nancial statements.
 As disclosed in note 3.3 to the annual fi nancial statements, the entity incurred fruitless and wasteful expenditure during the period 

to the amount of R672 306.

OTHER MATTERS 

I draw attention to the following matters which are ancillary to my responsibilities on the audit of the fi nancial statements:
13. Internal control

• Control environment
 The Mine Health and Safety Council had a poor control environment:

- there was no segregation of duties throughout the accounting department which was exacerbated by the suspension of the 
General Manager/Financial Manager. 

- capacity within the fi nance division was limited which severely impacted on the effi cient performance of the audit.
- the corporate structure of the entity had a negative impact on operations such as the merging of the roles of General 

Manager and Financial Manager into a single position which created a void when this individual was suspended.
- the Council does not have a system to identify and record related party transactions as required by IAS24 – Related 

Parties.
- the Council does not have a business continuity plan as required by Treasury Regulation 51.1(c).

• Control activities
 Control activities described in policy and procedures manuals were not properly applied: 

- bank reconciliations were not consistently prepared on a weekly basis as required by Treasury Regulation 31.1.2 (j).
- sections 38(1)(f) and 76(4)(b) of the PFMA requires that creditors be paid within 30 days from the date of the invoice 

however, the creditors’ age analysis made available on the 13 April 2007 by management, refl ected that the creditors were 
outstanding for more than 90 days.

14. Forensic Audit
 A forensic audit was conducted subsequent to 31 March 2007 during which period the General Manager/Financial Manager was 

suspended.  The Council is in negotiations with the suspended General Manager/Financial Manager with a view to settlement.

15. Non-Compliance with laws and regulations
• The strategic plan for 2007/8 had not been submitted by 30 September 2006 as required by Treasury Regulation 30.1.1.
• The Council does not prepare cash performance reports on a monthly basis as required by Treasury Regulation 31.1.3.
• Bid awards were not published in the Government Tender Bulletin and other media as required by Treasury Regulations 

16A.6.3(d).
• The Council’s procedures manual did not include the following  as provided for in SCM 4 of 2003:

- Accountability;
- Openness;
- Bid evaluation/Adjudication terms; and
- Combative practices.

• Employee Tax returns (EMP 2001) for March 2006 and May 2006 were submitted 5 days and 2 days respectively after due date, 
which is in contravention of the Tax Act;

• The entity has not complied with the provisions of IAS18 and IAS39, the standards governing the recognition and measurement 
of revenue and the associated receivables, as they have not recorded levy income at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable. Furthermore, the entity has not complied with paragraph 46 of IAS39 which requires receivables to be measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate subsequent to initial recognition.

16. Material corrections made to the fi nancial statements submitted for audit
The entity made the following material adjustments to the fi nancial statements subsequent to the submission date of 
31 May 2007:
• Accruals were initially reversed by R3 160 955 and an accrual relating to Research projects was raised for an amount of R8 248 

584;
• Provision for Regional Services Council (RSC) was increased by R317 000;
• Provision for bad debts was decreased by R1 674 820;

Report of the Auditor-General (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2007



Mine Health and Safety Council

36

• Unallocated deposits amounting to R102 000 were cleared;
• Input VAT of R1 014 911.86 was written back to Research Expenditure, as the entity has been de-registered from VAT from 1 April 

2005;
• Provisions was adjusted by R109 682 which related to bonuses, and the provision for RSC levies was reversed;
• An amount of R99 742.88 was adjusted to PAYE and fruitless and wasteful expenditure;
• There has been a disclosure for research commitments of R37 500 000;
• Research and administration expenses was adjusted by R9 453 064.37 and R5 194 976.75, respectively;
• Administration fi nes were decreased in the income statement and increased in the balance sheet by R238 576;
• Prior adjustments refl ected in the statement of changes in net assets was reversed and research expenses in the income 

statement decreased by R4 222 632;
• Disclosure of fruitless and wasteful expenditure increased by R460 579.

17. Database for calculation of the rate at which levies are charged
 The Council relies on the database of the Department of Minerals and Energy to calculate the rate at which levies are raised. I was 

unable to verify the accuracy of the database at the Department of Minerals and Energy used to calculate the rate at which levies 
are raised.

18. Ownership of levies received for Mine Health and Safety
 Although the ownership of the levies rests with the Chief Inspector of Mines in the Department of Minerals and Energy, the levies 

of R43.1million (2006: R40.6million) are accounted for in the Mine Health and Safety Council.

OTHER REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES

Reporting on Performance Information
19. I have audited the performance information as set out on pages 11 to 30.

Responsibilities of  the accounting authority
20. The accounting authority has additional responsibilities as required by section 55(2)(a) of the PFMA to ensure that the annual report 

and audited fi nancial statements fairly present the performance against predetermined objectives of the public entity.

Responsibility of  the Auditor-General
21 I conducted my engagement in accordance with section 13 of the Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) read with General Notice 

646 of  2007, issued in Government Gazette No. 29919 of  25 May 2007.

22 In terms of the foregoing my engagement included performing procedures of an audit nature to obtain suffi cient appropriate 
evidence about the performance information and related systems, processes and procedures. The procedures selected depend on 
the auditor’s judgement.

23 I believe that the evidence I have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for the audit fi ndings reported below. 

Audit fi ndings
24. No audit fi ndings came to the fore.
 

APPRECIATION
25. The assistance rendered by the staff of the Mine Health and Safety Council during the audit is sincerely appreciated.

B.R. Wheeler for Auditor-General
Pretoria
31 July 2007

Report of the Auditor-General (continued)
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Report of the MHSC Audit and Risk Committee
for the year ended 31 March 2007

We are pleased to present our report for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2007

Audit Committee Members and Attendance: 
The Audit Committee consists of the members listed hereunder and must meet 4 times per annum as per its approved terms of 
reference.  During the current year 7 meetings were held.

Name of  Member Number of  Meetings Attended
Dr D Konar 7
Mr T B Letanta 7
Mr J Winson 7
Mr M J Matlala 6

Audit Committee Responsibility
The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section 38(1)(a) of the PFMA and Treasury 
Regulation 3.1.13.
S38(1)(a)(ii) of the PFMA states the following:
(a) The accounting offi cer must ensure that the department has and maintains –
 (i) effective, effi cient and transparent systems of fi nancial and risk management and internal control; 
 (ii) a system of internal audit under the control and direction of an audit committee complying with and operating in accordance 

with regulations and instructions prescribed in terms of sections 76 and 77;
 (iii) an appropriate procurement and provisioning system which is fair, equitable, transparent, competitive and cost effective.

The Audit Committee also reports that it has adopted appropriate format terms of reference as its audit committee charter, has regulated 
its affairs in compliance with this charter and has discharged all its responsibilities as contained therein.

The effectiveness of internal control
   
The system of internal control was not entirely effective for the year under review, as compliance with prescribed policies and procedures 
were lacking in certain instances.  During the year under review, several instances of non-compliance were reported by internal and 
external auditors that resulted from a breakdown in the functioning of controls.  Signifi cant control weaknesses have been reported 
by the Auditor-General under a qualifi ed audit opinion and in the management letter.  In certain instances, the weaknesses reported 
previously have not been fully and satisfactorily addressed.  The effect of these instances has been included in the annual fi nancial 
statements and the report of the Accounting Offi cer. 

The quality of management and monthly and quarterly reports submitted in terms of 
the PFMA and the Division of Revenue Act.
The Audit Committee is satisfi ed with the content and quality of monthly and quarterly reports prepared and issued by the Accounting 
Offi cer during the year under review.

For the past fi nancial year, the Council has functioned without a dedicated Chief Financial Offi cer, the functions being performed by 
the General Manager.  For purposes of sound internal control and to meet the requirements of the PFMA and Treasury Regulations, it is 
essential that an appointment be made of a Chief Financial Offi cer expeditiously.

Evaluation of Financial Statements
The Audit Committee has:
• reviewed and discussed the audited annual fi nancial statements to be included in the annual report with the Auditor-General and 

the Accounting Offi cer;
• reviewed the Auditor-General’s management letter and management’s response thereto; 
• reviewed changes in accounting policies and practices; and
• reviewed signifi cant adjustments resulting from the audit. 

The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the Auditor-General’s conclusions on the annual fi nancial statements, and is of the opinion 
that the audited annual fi nancial statements be accepted and read together with the report of the Auditor-General.   

Dr D Konar
Chairperson
31 July 2007
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Corporate Governance Statement
for the year ended 31 March 2007

Introduction

Corporate governance is concerned with the organisational arrangements that have been put in place to provide an appropriate set of 
checks and balances within which the stewards of the Council operate.  The objective is to ensure that those to whom the stakeholders 
entrust the direction and success of the Council, act in the best interest of these stakeholders.

The Mine Health and Safety Council ensures that its processes and practices are reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to ensure 
adherence to good corporate governance practices, which are continually benchmarked against international practices.

The members of Council believe that the Council has substantially applied and complied with the principles incorporated in the Code 
of Corporate Practices and Conduct as set out in the King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2002 (King II Report), as well 
as the Protocol on Corporate Governance in the Public Sector 2003.

Stakeholders

In addition to the interests of the State, Employees and Employers, the Mine Health and Safety Council acknowledges the interests of 
other stakeholders, including employees in the Council offi ce, creditors, customers, suppliers and local communities.

The entity regularly communicates with all stakeholders on material matters of signifi cant interest and concern to stakeholders.  The 
information furnished to stakeholders conforms to the criteria of promptness, openness, substance over form, relevance, clarity, 
effectiveness, transparency and objectivity.  The Mine Health and Safety Council places great emphasis on reporting on both fi nancial 
and non-fi nancial matters, as well as addressing both positive and negative aspects.

Governing Bodies

The Council is a statutory entity established and governed in terms of the Mine Health and Safety Act (Act No. 29 of 1996) (MHSA) and is 
listed as a public entity in terms of the Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA).  Its executive authority is the Minister 
of Minerals and Energy.

The Council applies the South African Statements of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice in presenting its Annual Financial 
Statements as well as the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act.

The members of the Council are appointed by the Minister of Minerals and Energy.  In terms of the MHSA, fi ve members represent 
Departments of the State, fi ve represent employees of mines and fi ve represent mine employers.  The Chairperson of the Council is the 
Chief Inspector of Mines.

Functions and duties of the Mine Health and Safety Council (MHSC)

In terms of Section 43 of the MHSA, the Council must:
a. Advise the Minister on health and safety at mines including, but not limited to, any regulations on mine rehabilitation in so far as 

they concern health and safety;
b. Co-ordinate the activities of its committees, receive reports from the committees and liaise with the Mining Qualifi cations Authority 

on matters relating to health and safety;
c. Liaise with any other statutory bodies concerned with matters relating to health and safety;
d. Promote a culture of health and safety in the mining industry;
e. Arrange and co-ordinate a tripartite summit to review the state of health and safety at mines at least once every two years; and
f. Perform every duty imposed upon the Council in terms of the MHSA.

In terms of the MHSA, the Council has the following committees assisting with the performance of its duties:

Safety in Mines Research Advisory Committee (SIMRAC)

In terms of the MHSA, SIMRAC is required to advise the Council on:
a. The criteria for determining the funding of health and safety research;
b. The need for research into health and safety at mines;
c. The costs, ratifi cation, assessment and execution of research projects;
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d. Communication and publication of research results; and
e. The management of the research programme.

In addition, SIMRAC must prepare the overall programme for relevant health and safety research.

Mining Regulation Advisory Committee (MRAC)

In terms of the MHSA, MRAC is required to advise the Council on:
a. Proposed changes to legislation to improve health or safety at mines;
b. Proposals for changes to legislation made by any other committee of the Council; 
c. Guidelines for Codes of Practice; and
d. Standards approved by the South African Bureau of Standards.

Mining Occupational Health Advisory Committee (MOHAC)

In terms of the MHSA, MOHAC is required to advise the Council on:
a. Policy relating to health;
b. Standard systems and procedures for assessing, avoiding, controlling and minimising health risks;
c. Regulations on any aspect of health;
d. Health research; and
e. Collecting, processing and distributing health data in the mining industry.

MHSC Audit and Risk Committee

The MHSC Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for improving management reporting by overseeing audit functions, internal 
controls and the fi nancial reporting process.  The committee comprises of stakeholder nominated representatives and is chaired by an 
independent chairperson.

The MHSC Audit and Risk Committee have adopted appropriate formal terms of reference, which have been approved by the Council, 
and have satisfi ed its responsibilities as set out in the terms of reference. 

Members: Alternate:
D Konar Independent Chairperson                     
TB Letanta State Representative                                              
J Winson Employer Representative A Moodley
J Matlala Employee Representative P Mashego

Seven meetings were held during the period under review:  

Attendance at Meetings
Members of Committees Number of meetings held Number of Meetings Attended
D Konar 7 7
TB Letanta 7 7
A Moodley (alternate) 7 3
J Winson 7 6
J Matlala 7 7

MHSC HR/Remuneration Committee

The HR/Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Council on the remuneration of employees within the Council offi ce 
and other staffi ng issues.

Members: Alternates:
A Kemp Chairperson/State Representative
A Botha State Representative
N Pienaar Employer Representative M Spowart
L Makhubelo Employee Representative P Mashego

Corporate Governance Statement (continued)
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Four meetings held during the period under review:  

Attendance at Meetings
Members of Committees Number of meetings Number of Meetings Attended
A Kemp 2 2
A Botha (Alternate) 2 1
N Pienaar 2 0
M Spowart (Alternate) 2 2
L Makhubelo 2 2
P Mashego (Alternate) 2 0

Risk Management 

A risk assessment was performed in December 2005 and a new risk register and action plan drawn up. Continuous monitoring of risk 
and control processes across the signifi cant risk areas was undertaken for the period under review. 

The system of internal control which is embedded in all key operations provides reasonable rather than absolute assurance that the 
Council’s business objectives will be achieved within the risk tolerance levels defi ned by the Council.

The Council also receives assurance from the MHSC Audit and Risk Committee which partly derives its information from regular internal 
and external audit reports throughout the Council on risk and internal control.

The Council seeks to have a sound system of internal control based on the Council’s policies and guidelines.

During the course of the year, management considered the Council’s responsiveness to changes within its business environment and 
material inadequacies in systems of control.  Remedial steps have been effected and the Council is satisfi ed that there is an ongoing 
process for identifying, evaluating and managing the signifi cant risks faced by the Council. 

Internal Audit 

The Mine Health and Safety Council has an outsourced internal audit function that has the support and co-operation of both the Council 
and management.  The internal audit function was established in terms of S51 (1) (ii) of the PFMA in January 2004. A charter was in 
place as stipulated by TR 27.2.5, setting out its purpose, authority and responsibilities.  The internal audit function is under the control 
and direction of the MHSC Audit and Risk Committee and reports at the highest level of authority and attends all MHSC Audit and Risk 
Committee meetings.  The internal audit function provides an independent, objective appraisal and evaluation of the risk management 
processes, internal controls and governance processes, and they identify corrective actions and suggested enhancements to the controls 
and processes.

A risk-based audit plan was implemented in the period under review. The internal audit function co-ordinates with other internal and 
external providers of assurance to ensure proper coverage and to minimise duplication of effort. 

Going Concern

The members have reviewed the Council’s budget and cash fl ow forecasts for the year ending 31 March 2008.  On the basis of this review, 
and in view of the current fi nancial position, the members, with the concurrence of the auditors, have every reason to believe that the 
Council will be a going concern in the year ahead.  The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on this basis.

Code of Business Conduct

The MHSC Code of Business Conduct was approved on 25 June 2004 and implemented for the period under review.  The Code provides 
clear guidance on the expected behaviour of all employees and underpins the principles of good governance as outlined by the King II 
Report on Corporate Governance.  

Corporate Governance Statement (continued)
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Introduction

The members of Council present their audited Annual Financial Statements of the Council for the year ended 31 March 2007.

The Mine Health and Safety Council was established, in terms of the Mine Health and Safety Act (Act No. 29 of 1996), as amended 
(MHSA), and is listed as a national public entity under schedule 3A of the Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999), (PFMA), 
as amended.

The Council acts as the Accounting Authority in terms of the PFMA.

Organisational Structure

There were no changes in the organisational structure for the Council for the period under review.  The organisational structure is 
contained in the Annual Report. 

Council Principal Activities

In terms of Section 43, of the MHSA the Council must:
• Advise the Minister on health and safety at mines including, but not limited to, any regulations on mine rehabilitation in so far as 

they concern health and safety;
• Co-ordinate the activities of its committees, receive reports from the committees and liaise with the Mining Qualifi cations Authority 

on matters relating to health and safety;
• Liaise with any other statutory bodies concerned with matters relating to health and safety;
• Promote a culture of health and safety in the mining industry;
• Arrange and co-ordinate a tripartite summit to review the state of health and safety at mines at least once every two years; and
• Perform every duty imposed upon the Council in terms of the MHSA.

In addition, the Council’s sub-committee, SIMRAC, advises the Council on:
• The criteria for determining the funding of health and safety research;
• The need for research into health and safety at mines;
• The costs, ratifi cation, assessment and execution of research projects;
• Communication and publication of research results; and
• The management of the research programme.

Operating Results 

During the period under review the Council posted a surplus of R4,9 million (2006: surplus of R4,4 million).  

Review of Operations

Levies

The funding required to cover the costs for the research programme is generated from levies on mines, which are fi xed on an annual 
basis.  

Levies were imposed on approximately 610 mines (2006: 484 mines) during the period under review.  This resulted in the following 
amounts being levied:

2007 2006
R ‘000 R ‘000

Levies 43 112 40 614

 Gold and Platinum 31 062 28 969

 Coal 4 460 7 993

 Other 7 590 3 652

Council Report  
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Research Expenditure 
 

2007 2006
R ‘000 R ‘000

Research Projects 34 640 29 478

OHS culture interventions 442 33

Rock falls 5 388  5 471

Rock bursts 7 385 5 132

Explosions and fi res 461 2 965

Machinery and transport 2 930 2 002

Airborne pollutants 7 581 4 805

Physical hazards 267 504

Occupational diseases 3 195 858

Special projects 6 446 3 041

Input VAT written back 545 4 667

• Actual research expenditure for the year under review has increased by 18% compared to the 2006 fi nancial year.  This increase 
is mainly due to an increase on the expenditure for special research projects and occupational diseases.  This is as a result of the 
decision by the DME to account for levies in the Council records as previously, pending the Minister’s decision on delegating the 
administration of levies to the Council. 

Administration Expenses

As Council members are non-executive members, the Council has set up an administrative offi ce to assist in the execution of its duties.  
This offi ce is funded by the DME with costs associated with the administration of the research programme being recovered from the levy 
fund.  For the year under review, total administration expenses were R12,8 million (2006: R14,5 million) which were made up of the DME 
contribution of R4,4 million (2006: R4,2 million) and levies contribution of R8,4 million (2006: R5,1 million).   

The 11% decrease in expenditure, excluding research spending, is due mainly to a decrease in spending on consulting fees, Regional 
Services Council (RSC) levies and audit fees.

Administrative Fines 

Administrative fi nes are imposed by the Mines Inspectorate in terms of Section 55A (1) of the MHSA.  In terms of the Act administrative 
fi nes collected must be spent on the promotion of health and safety on mines.  Administration fi nes not utilised accumulate in a 
separate account.  As the funds are utilised they are recognised in income.  For the period under review administrative fi nes to the 
amount of R0,327 million were utilised (2006: R0,644 million). 

Review of Financial Position

Assets

• During the period under review the Council purchased new assets at a cost of R0,226 million (2006: R0,194 million). 
• No assets were revalued for the period under review.

Investments

• Investments increased by R2,8 million from R43,2 million (2006) to R46,0 million.  This increase is due to the fact that a total of 
R38 million levies were collected earlier and there was a delay in the commencement of projects that resulted in higher 
investments.

Council Report (continued)
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Trade and Other Receivables

• Trade and other receivables increased by R3,9 million.  The increase is mainly due to the increase in Levy Debtors.

Materiality and Signifi cance Framework 

A materiality and signifi cant framework has been developed for reporting losses through criminal conduct and irregular, fruitless 
and wasteful expenditure, as well as for signifi cant transactions envisaged per section 54(2) of the PFMA that requires ministerial 
approval.  The framework was fi nalised after consultation with the external auditors and has been formally approved by the Council on 
4 February 2005, and submitted to Executive Authority for approval. 

Ownership of Levies

The Public Entity status of the Council and its resultant obligation to comply with the PFMA raised a number of uncertainties pertaining 
to the ownership of the levies.  The Council obtained a legal opinion with regard to this issue and consulted National Treasury and the 
Act.  Clarity has now been established and the levy fund resides with the State and will be administered separately as a dedicated special 
purpose fund. Approval will be sought from the Minister to delegate the administration of the levies as well as the accounting of the 
levies in the records of the Council. Pending the approval, levies will be accounted for as previously in the MHSC accounting records.

Control Systems and Record Keeping

Income and receivables

The Council relies on the integrity of links between its invoicing systems and the mining databases SAMRASS and SAMINDEX in order to 
invoice levies.  To ensure accurate data is used the Council only uses data signed off by the DME.

Debt Collection Agent

During a previous fi nancial year (1999) the DME appointed an agent to collect certain of its debts.  The money collected was deposited 
into the debt collector’s own account.  The debt collector has absconded with the money.  The amount exceeds R6 million, and has been 
provided for in the previous fi nancial year’s fi nancial statements.  As a result of this criminal charges were laid with the South African 
Police Service (Case No. Welkom 644/04/2001).  In addition, the State Attorney was requested to assist in recovering these amounts.  
Subsequent to year-end the case was referred to the Director of Public Prosecutions and the defendant has been requested to appear 
in the Free State Regional Court on charges of theft.  The amount has not been written-off as the DME believes that the debt can be 
recovered.   The defendant has appeared in court on several occasions and the matter is still pending.
 
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure incurred during the period under review is disclosed under note 3.3.

Non-compliance with S51 of the PFMA

The Council achieved signifi cant compliance with the PFMA for the period under review.

Events Subsequent to Balance Sheet Date

The members of Council are not aware of any matters or circumstances arising since the end of the fi nancial year, not otherwise dealt 
with in the Annual Financial Statements, which signifi cantly affect the fi nancial position of the Council or the results of its operations. 
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Stakeholder Relations

The Council is a tripartite body comprising 15 members representing the mining industry stakeholders, that is, 5 members from the 
State, 5 members from the Employers (the mines) and 5 members representing Employees (the various unions in the mining industry).  
The Council endeavours to maintain good stakeholder relations and abides by the principles of tripartism.  The Council endeavours to 
achieve decision-making by consensus and conforms to the decision-making processes as set out in its Constitution.

Addresses

The entity’s business, postal and registered addresses are as follows:

Business address/domicile: Postal address:

2nd Floor, Braamfontein Centre, 23 Jorissen Street Private Bag X63

Braamfontein Braamfontein, 2017

Attendance at Meetings
Members of Council Number of Meetings Held  Number of Meetings Attended

State members

Mr MM Zondi 6 5

Mr TE Gazi 6 5

Mr AR Nundlall 2 2

Ms S Makhoba 2 1

Dr D Mokoboto 2 2

Mr TM Doyle (Replaced) 1 1

Mr D Maphutha 1 1

Mr J Erasmus (Resigned) 3 3

Labour members

Ms M Llale 6 3

Mr P Hlanizulu 3 3

Mr E Gcilitshana 6 3

Mr TJP Kruger 6 1

Mr J Morallana 3 0

Mr SF Stehring 6 3

Employer members

Mr S van der Woude 6 5

Mr A van der Bergh 6 5

Mr N Pienaar 6 4

Dr MF Randera 6 4

Mr R Lazare 6 4

Council Report (continued)
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2007 2006
Notes R ‘000 R ‘000

Mine Health and Safety Council

Income 51 962 48 385

 

Revenue 2 47 892 45 457

Other Income 4 4 070 2 928

Expenditure (47 488) (43 973)

Research Expenditure 3.4 (34 640) (29 478)

Administrative Expenses (1 518) ( 2 048)

Staff Costs 3.5 (5 729) ( 5 768)

Depreciation 5 (1 915) ( 813)

Other Operating Expenses  (3 359) (5 159)

Promotion of Health & Safety (327) (707)

Net surplus for the year ending 31 March 4 474 4 412

Statement of Financial Performance
for the year ended 31 March 2007
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2007 2006
Notes R ‘000 R ‘000

Statement of Financial Position
for the year ended 31 March 2007

Assets

Current assets 61 754 56 005

Levy and other receivables 7 13 615 9 825

Cash and cash equivalents 8/16 48 139 46 180

Non-current assets 1 519 3 208

Plant, Furniture and Equipment 5 1 518 3 207

Intangible assets 6 1 1

Total Assets 63 273 59 213

Liabilities

Current liabilities 15 461 15 291

Trade and other payables 10 13 380 8 470

Unutilised Administrative Fines 11 1 406 1 168

Provisions 12 675 590

South African Revenue Services - 5 063

Non-current liabilities

Post retirement medical aid 9 688 1 272

Net Assets 47 124 42 650

Accumulated Surplus 47 124 42 650

Total Net Assets and Liabilities 63 273 59 213
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Balance at 1 April 2005 38 238

Balance as previously stated 38 802

Correction of error 14 (564)

Net surplus for year to 31 March 2006  4 412 

Balance at 31 March 2006 42 650 

Net surplus for year to 31 March 2007 4 474  

Balance at 31 March 2007 47 124

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
for the year ended 31 March 2007

Accumulated surplus/(defi cit)
Notes R ‘000



2007 2006
Notes R ‘000 R ‘000

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Cash receipts from mines and other sources 44 101 41 437

Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (45 150) (35 671)

Cash Generated From Operations 15 (1 049) 5 766

Interest earned 3 234 2 639

Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities 2 185 8 405

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Additions to plant and equipment (226) (194)

Net Cash Flows From Investing Activities (226) (194)

Net Increase In Cash And Cash Equivalents 1 959 8 211

    Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 46 180 37 969

Cash and Cash Equivalents at end of Year 16 48 139 46 180

Mine Health and Safety Council

Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 March 2007
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1 Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies 

The following are the principal accounting policies of the Council which are, in all material respects, consistent with those applied in the 
previous year, except as otherwise indicated:

1.1 Basis of preparation

The annual fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practices (GAAP) including any interpretations of such Statements issued by the Accounting Practices Board, with the precribed Standards 
of Generally Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP) issued by the Accounting Standards Board replacing the equivalent GAAP Statements 
as follows:

Standard of GRAP replaced Statement of GAAP
GRAP 1: Presentation of Financial Statements replaced AC101: Presentation of Financial Statements
GRAP 2: Cash fl ow Statements replaced AC 118 Cash fl ow Statement
GRAP 3: Accounting Policy, changes in accounting estimates and errors 
AC 103: Accounting policies, changes in estimates and errors
The recognition and mearsurement principles in the above GAAP and GRAP Statements do not defer or result in material differences in 
items presented and disclosed in the fi nancial statements

The implementation of GRAP 1, 2 and 3 has resulted in the following signifi cated changes in the presentation of the fi nancial 
statements.

1.1.1 Terminology differences
Standard of GRAP replaced statement of GAAP
Statement of fi nancial performance Income Statement
Statement of fi nancial position  Balance Sheet
Statement of changes in net assets Statement of changes in net equity
Net assets    Equity
Surplus/Defi cit for the period  Profi t/Loss for the period
Accummulated Surplus/Defi cit  Retained Earnings
Contribution from Owners  Share capital
Distribution to Owners   Dividends
Preporting date   Balance sheet date

1.1.2  Cashfl ow statement can only be prepared in accordance with the direct method

1.1.3 Specifi c information such as:
a. Receivables from non exchanges transaction, including taxes and transfers
b. Taxes and transfers payable
c. Trade and other payables from non exchange transactions; must be prepared separately on the statements of fi nancial position 
    
1.1.4  The amount and nature of  any restrictions on cash balances is required to be disclosed.
Paragraph 11-15 of GRAP 1 has not been implemented as the budget reporting standard is in the process of being developed by 
the international and local standards setters. Although the inclusion of the budget information would enhance the usefulness of the 
fi nancial statements, non disclosure will not affect fair presentation.

1.2 Currency

These Financial Statements are presented in South African Rands.

1.3 Income 

Income is the net invoiced value of levies determined by the Council, in terms of regulations issued in terms of the Mine Health and 
Safety Act, 1996 (Act No. 29 of 1996), (MHSA).    

Administrative Fines are levied by the Department of Minerals and Energy, in terms of Section 55 of the MHSA, for breaches of certain 
sections of the same act.  Administrative Fines are recorded as Deferred Income when they become receivable and are then recognised 

Mine Health and Safety Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
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as income on a systematic basis over the period necessary to match the income with the related costs which they are intended to 
compensate.

Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis taking into account the principal outstanding and the effective interest rate over 
the period to maturity. 

1.4 Plant, furniture and equipment

Plant, furniture and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is charged against the asset on 
a straight line basis so as to fully depreciate the asset to its net realisable value at the end of its useful life. 

The following are the estimated useful lives of the categories of assets as well as the estimated realisable value on disposal.

Asset Life in Years Estimated Disposal Value 
Percentage

Offi ce equipment 5 Nil
Computer equipment 3 Nil
Computer software 2 Nil
Furniture and fi ttings 10 Nil
Research assets Duration of contract Nil

1.5 Intangible assets

Intangible assets are stated at the historical cost of the patent less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment. Each asset is 
amortised over its useful life once it is put into use. Currently no intangible assets are in use. The members of Council assess the carrying 
value of each intangible asset annually and revisions are made where it is considered necessary.

Internally generated intangible assets (Research and development costs) 
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
An internally generated intangible asset arising from the Council’s developments is recognised only if all of the following conditions are met:
• An asset is created that can be identifi ed (such as software and new processes);
• It is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefi ts; and
• The development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.
Where no internally generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in 
which it is incurred. Internally generated intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives, which is usually 
no more than fi ve years.

1.6 Post Employment Benefi t Plan

The Council operates a defi ned benefi t plan. The defi ned benefi t obligations in terms of the post retirement medical aid, the related 
current service cost, and where applicable, the past service cost, are determined by using the projected unit credit method.
.
1.7 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Council has a present obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that this will result in 
an outfl ow of economic benefi ts that can be estimated reliably.  Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as they accrue 
to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability as a result of services rendered up to the date of the Annual Financial 
Statements. This liability is calculated using the total cost of employing each member of staff.

1.8 Irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in contravention of, or not in accordance with, a requirement of any applicable 
legislation, including the PFMA.

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expenditure that was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care been exercised. 

All irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure is charged against income in the period in which it is incurred.
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1.9 Material losses
Material losses are losses incurred that do not comprise normal expenditure or income due to the Council and not recovered.

1.10 Taxation
The Council does not pay income tax, as it is exempt in terms of section 10(1) (cA) (i) (aa) of the Income Tax Act (Act No. 58 of 1962) as amended.

1.11 Impairment 
At each balance sheet date, the Council reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is 
any indication that those assets may be impaired.  If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order 
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).  Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount for an individual 
asset, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the 
asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are immediately recognised as an expense, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another standard, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 
decrease under the standard.

1.12 Leasing 
Leases are classifi ed as fi nance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to 
the lessee. All other leases are classifi ed as operating leases.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to income on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

1.13 Financial instruments

Recognition 
Financial assets and fi nancial liabilities are recognised on the Council’s balance sheet when the Council becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

Measurement
Financial instruments are initially measured at cost, which includes transaction costs.  

Financial assets
The Council’s principal fi nancial assets are investments, accounts receivable and cash and cash equivalents.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances for impairments.

Investments
All investments are initially recognised at cost, with transaction costs included.  At subsequent reporting dates investments are measured 
at amortised cost by using the effective interest rate method if they have a fi xed maturity or at cost if there is no fi xed maturity:

Cost and amortised cost are inclusive of any impairment loss recognised to refl ect irrecoverable amounts. The fi nancial assets are subject 
to review for impairment at each balance sheet date.

The annual amortisation of any discount or premium on the acquisition of a held-to-maturity security is aggregated with other 
investment income receivable over the term of the instrument so that the income recognised in each period represents a constant yield 
on the investment.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value.

Financial liabilities
The Council’s principal fi nancial liabilities are trade payables.

Trade payables
Trade and other payables are stated at their nominal value.
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1.14 Government Grants

Government grants are recorded as deferred income when they become receivable and are then recognised as income on a systematic 
basis over the period necessary to match the grants with the related costs.

2 Revenue

An analysis of the Council’s income is as follows:
Levies Received
State funding
Administrative fi nes

43 112
4 453

327

40 614
4 199

644

Total 47 892 45 457

3 Surpluses from Operations
Surpluses are stated after taking the following into account:

3.1 Material Losses, Irregular Expenses, Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure

No material losses were incurred for the period under review.  However, a debt collection agency, Financial Solutions absconded with R6 
million of the Council’s levy monies in the 1999 fi nancial year.  This amount has not been written off. The internal controls over the debt 
collection have been enhanced.  Refer to the Council’s Report under the heading Debt Collection Agent for more information.
 
3.2 Irregular expenditure
  
No irregular expenditure was incurred by the Council for the period under review.

3.3 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

The fruitless and wasteful expenditure that was incurred during the period under review amounts to R672 306 and includes the 
following:
• A possible loss of R460 597 that relates to research expenditure that was paid but no value was received by the Council. Legal action 

is being instituted by the Council in an effort to recover these funds.
• An amount of R187 871 was paid after an audit by SARS on payroll items from previous years.
• An amount of R21 500 of interest for late payment to a research agency. The balance of less than R2 400 is for general interest 

charges on late payments to creditors.

3.4 Research expenditure

Research expenditure comprises the following:

Research projects 
OHS culture interventions 442 33
Rock falls 5 388  5 471
Rock bursts 7 385 5 132
Explosions and fi res 461 2 965
Machinery and transport 2 930 2 002
Airborne pollutants 7 581 4 805
Physical hazards 267 504
Occupational diseases 3 195 858
Special projects 6 446 3 041
Input VAT Written back 545 4 667

34 640 29 478

2007 2006
R ‘000 R ‘000

2007 2006
R ‘000 R ‘000



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2007

Mine Health and Safety Council

53

Mine Health and Safety Council     ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2007 2006
R ‘000 R ‘000

3.5 Staff Costs

Included in staff costs are the following defi ned benefi t costs. The net actuarial gain for the 
year ended 31 March 2007 has been included in other income.

Defi ned Benefi t Expense

Current service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial gain

196
110

(890)

201
114

(188)

Total  (584)  127

3.6 Auditors’ Remuneration

Audit fees
Expenses

408
-

581
-

Total 408 581

3.7 Operating Leases

Rentals in respect of operating leases:
Premises
Equipment

537
21

364
21

Total 558 385

The increase in expenditure for premises is due to the fact that additional space was acquired 
by the MHSC during the year under review.

4 Other income

Interest Received
Investments
Council Administration
Administrative Fines 

3 198
36

-

2 612
26
1

3 234 2 639

Sundry Income
Royalty income
Net actuarial gain

252
584

289
-

Total 4 070 2 928
                
Royalties have been earned through the sale of Stonedust Bags developed in SIMRAC project 
COL 501.
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5 Plant, Furniture and Equipment

Plant Offi ce 
Equipment

Offi ce 
Furniture

Computer 
Equipment

Research 
Equipment

Computer 
Software Total

R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000 R ‘000
Year ended 31 March 2007

Opening net carrying amount 845 68 178 164 1 571 381 3 207

Gross carrying amount 1 345 226 405 604 3 508 612 6 700

Accumulated depreciation (500) (158) (227) (440) (1 937) (231) (3 493)

Additions - 9 - 103 47 67 226

Assets written-off

Depreciation (313) (58) (61) (261) (845) (376) (1 915)

Closing net carrying amount  533 19 117 6 773 71 1 518

Gross carrying amount 1 346 235 405 707 3 555 678 6 926

Accumulated depreciation (813) (216) (288) (701) (2 782) (607) (5 408)

Year ended 31 March 2006

Opening net carrying amount 935 88 220 178      1 967 438 3 826

Gross carrying amount 1 345 226 405 537 3 425 568 6 505

Accumulated depreciation (410) (138) (185) (359) (1 458) (130) (2 679)

Additions - - - 67 83 44 194

Write offs - - - - - - -

Depreciation (90) (20) (42) (81) (479) (101) (813)

Closing net carrying amount 845 68 178 164 1 571 381 3 207

Gross carrying amount 1 345 226 405 604 3 508 612 6 700

Accumulated depreciation (500) (158) (227) (440) (1 937) (231) (3 493)

6 Intangible Assets

Opening net carrying amount 1 1

Gross carrying amount
Accumulated amortisation

15
(14)

15
(14)

Amortisation during year
Closing net carrying amount

 - 
1

  -  
1

Gross carrying amount
Accumulated amortisation

15
(14)

15
(14)

2007 2006
R ‘000 R ‘000
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2007 2006
R ‘000 R ‘000

7 Levy and Other Receivables

Levy debtors 18 122 20 234

Less: Impairment of Debtors (4 724) (11 322)

Opening balance (5 099) (10 359)

Amounts written off during the current year 375 (963)

 Net Levy Debtors 13 398 8 912

Other Debtors 6 233  6 977

Less: Impairment of Other Debtors (6 233) (6 233)

Net Other Debtors - 744

Deposits : Rent 89 86

Staff debtors 4 3

Study loans (staff ) 13 -

Prepayments 111 80

Total accounts receivable 13 615 9 825

The impairment of debtors has been determined by reference to past default experience and 
the current economic environment.

The members of Council consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables 
approximates to their fair value.

8 Cash and Bank Balances

Bank balances and cash comprise cash and short-term, highly liquid investments that are 
held with registered banking institutions with maturities of three months or less and that are 
subject to insignifi cant interest rate risk. The carrying amount of these assets approximates to 
their fair value. The bank balances are comprised as follows:

Mine Safety Research account 432 1 579

Mine Safety Research Investments  45 957 43 220

Total Mine Safety Research cash 46 389 44 799

Administration bank accounts 210 82

Administrative Fines  bank accounts 1 540 1 299

48 139 46 180

9 Post Retirement Medical Aid 

The Council has made provision for post-retirement medical aid, covering all employees 
appointed prior to 1 July 2003.

9.1 Post-Retirement Medical Aid

The Council has a commitment to provide medical aid for staff members in the event of 
them retiring while in the service of the Council. This scheme is valued by a qualifi ed actuary 
on an annual basis. A valuation of the liability arising as a result of this was performed in 
31 March 2007.  This valuation was effective 31 March 2007. The Projected Unit Credit Method 
was used to determine the present value of the Council’s obligations in this regard.  The 
Council has not in the past funded this obligation. The possibility of funding this obligation in 
the future is currently being investigated. There was an actuarial net gain of R0,584 million for 
the period ended 31 March 2007, which reduces the Council’s liability substantially. 
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9.1 Post-Retirement Medical Aid (continued) 
The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the Council’s obligation in respect of 
the post-retirement medical benefi t plan is as follows:

Present value of fund obligations
Movements in the net liability in the current period were as follows:
Opening balance
Amounts charged/(added) to income

688

1 272
(584)

1 272

1 145
127

Closing Balance 688 1 272
 
Key assumptions used (expressed as weighted averages): 

Discount rate 8.5% 7.5%

Medical infl ation increases 7% 6%

10 Trade and Other Payables 

Trade creditors 12 918 2 128

Payroll creditors 222 112

Sundry creditors 240 6 230

13 380 8 470

The members of Council consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables 
approximates their fair value.

11 Unutilised Administrative Fines

Opening balance
Administrative fi nes issued and paid
Utilised during the year for promotion of Health and Safety

1 168
565

(327)

1 377
435

(644)

Closing balance 1 406 1 168

12 Provisions

12.1  Leave pay provision

The leave pay provision relates to the Council’s estimated liabilities arising as a result of 
services rendered by employees. 

Leave pay provision

Opening balance
Additional provisions
Paid during the year

273
109
(24)

277
193

(197)

Closing balance 358 273

12.2  RSC Levies

Provision for RSC levies

Provision for RSC levies 317 317

Closing balance 675 590
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2007 2006
R ‘000 R ‘000

13 Government Funding

13.1  Other Government Funding

 The DME funds the administrative activities of the Council offi ces via a transfer payment.

Funds received 4 453 4 199
 

14 Fundamental Error 
 

Research Assets - 564

Total - 564

The error arose as a result of restatement of accruals for research expenditure that was raised 
during past year-ends but never reversed during subsequent fi nancial years.

Decrease in profi t - 564

Net increase in fi xed assets - 832

Increase in current assets - 268

Decrease in equity - 564

15 Reconciliation of Total Surplus for the Year to Cash 
Generated From Operations

Net surplus per income statement 4 474 4 412
Depreciation 1 915 813
Provisions 85 313
Input VAT Write-back 545 -
Post retirement medical aid (584) 127
Interest received (3 234) (2 639)
Bad debts (375) 963

2 826 3 989
Movement in working capital
Accounts receivable (4 045) (5 293)
Accounts payable 170 7 070

(1 049) 5 766

16 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and balance with banks, investments in 
money market instruments and bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents included in the 
cash fl ow statement comprise the following balance sheet amounts:

Cash on hand and balances with banks
Short-term investments

2 182
45 957

2 960
43 220

Cash and cash equivalents 48 139 46 180

As required in section 7(2) and 7(3) of the Public Finance Management Act, the National 
Treasury has approved the local banks where the bank accounts are held. 
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17 Operating Lease Arrangements 

17.1 The Council as lessee

At the balance sheet date the Council had outstanding commitments under 
non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows: 

Up to 1 year  - Rent Premises
 - Photocopier

2 to 5  years  - Rent Premises
 - Photocopier

581
20

-
79

 279
20

-
79

Total 680 378

18 Commitments 
 

Research Projects

Commitments
- Authorised and contracted for but not provided in the fi nancial statements
- Authorised but not contracted for

24 862
4 117

27 048
2 164

Total 28 979 29 212

19 Council Members’ Emoluments

19.1 Council Members do not earn any fees or receive emoluments.

19.2 The independent Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee earns a fee of R4 500 per meeting.

19.3 Executive Management

 

Salary Allowances Other
Company

contributions
Total
R’000

Year end 31 March 2007

Ms E Solomons 448 191 - 39 678

Year ended 31 March 2006

Ms E Solomons 423 180 - 37 640
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20 Related Party Transactions

Transactions with other related parties
During the year the Council, in the ordinary course of business, entered into the following transactions with related parties:

2007
R’000

2006
R’000

Related party Nature of 
relationship

Transaction 
type

Amount of 
transaction

Amount 
receivable/ 
(payable)

Amount of 
transaction

Amount 
receivable/ 
(payable)

DME

CEF

Executive 
Authority

Funds Manager

Transfer 
payment 

Operational 
Transfers

4 452

-

-

-

4 199

-

-

-

21 Financial Instruments 

Trade accounts receivable and payable at 31 March 2007 included aggregate net receivables of R5,3 million (2006: R9,8 million) in 
respect of levies raised and aggregate net accounts payable of R9 million (2006: R8,5 million) in respect of project creditors owing.

21.1 Credit risk 

Financial assets, which potentially subject the Council to concentrations of credit risk, consist principally of cash, short-term deposits 
and trade receivables. The Council’s cash equivalents and short-term deposits are placed with high-credit quality fi nancial institutions. 
Trade receivables are presented as a net of the allowance for doubtful debt. Credit risk with respect to trade receivables is limited due 
to the large number of customers comprising the Council’s customer base and their dispersion across different geographical areas. 
Accordingly, the Council has no signifi cant concentration of credit risk.  The carrying amounts of fi nancial assets included in the balance 
sheet represent the Council’s exposure to credit risk in relation to these assets.  The Council does not have any signifi cant exposure to 
any individual customer or counterparty.

21.2 Fair values

The fair values of the fi nancial assets and liabilities are disclosed in the relevant notes.

21.3 Liquidity Risk

The Council manages any liquidity risk it may face by maintaining adequate reserves and liquid resources by continuously monitoring 
forecasted and actual cashfl ows.

22 Comparative Figures

Where necessary, the comparative fi gures have been adjusted due to errors in prior years, as well as to conform to changes in presentation 
in the current year.





Contact Details

MHSC Offi ce:
Acting General Manager and Programme Manager: Rock Engineering Mr. Duncan Adams dadams@mhsc.org.za
PA to General Manager Mr. Lazarus Magana lmagana@mhsc.org.za
Reception  Ms. Belina Mosiuoa bmosiuoa@mhsc.org.za
Programme Manager: Occupational Health Dr. Audrey Banyini abanyini@mhsc.org.za
Programme Manager: Safety Mr. Dragan Amidzic damidzic@mhsc.org.za
Communications Offi cer Ms Elsie Zinsser ezinsser@mhsc.org.za
IT Administrator Mr. Remember Moraba rmoraba@mhsc.org.za
Financial Accountant Mr. Johannes Lithebe jlithebe@mhsc.org.za
MHSC & SIMRAC Secretary, HR offi cer Mrs. Cheryl Jones cjones@mhsc.org.za
MRAC Secretary Ms Judith Matthews jmatthews@mhsc.org.za
MOHAC Secretary Mrs. Noeleen Woods nwoods@mhsc.org.za
Levies Administrator Mr. Adiel Badrodien abadrodien@mhsc.org.za
Levies Credit Controller Mr. Celvan Phillip cphillip@mhsc.org.za

Council and Permanent Committees Chairpersons  
MHSC Chairperson Mr. Thabo Gazi Thabo.Gazi@dme.gov.za
SIMRAC Chairperson Mr AR Nundlall Vijay.nundlall@dme.gov.za
MRAC Chairperson Mr. J Boshielo Jacob.Boshielo@dme.gov.za
MOHAC Chairperson Dr. D Mokoboto  Dipalesa.Mokoboto@dme.gov.za






